

Loyola University Chicago

Dissertations

Theses and Dissertations

2021

Examining the Interplay of Mental Health, Family Conflict, and Body Mass Index among Mexican Origin Families: A Cross-Lagged Model

Laura Margaret Lehman Distel

Follow this and additional works at: https://ecommons.luc.edu/luc_diss

Part of the Psychology Commons

Recommended Citation

Distel, Laura Margaret Lehman, "Examining the Interplay of Mental Health, Family Conflict, and Body Mass Index among Mexican Origin Families: A Cross-Lagged Model" (2021). *Dissertations*. 3885. https://ecommons.luc.edu/luc_diss/3885

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Theses and Dissertations at Loyola eCommons. It has been accepted for inclusion in Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Loyola eCommons. For more information, please contact ecommons@luc.edu.



This work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-Noncommercial-No Derivative Works 3.0 License. Copyright © 2021 Laura Margaret Lehman Distel

LOYOLA UNIVERSITY CHICAGO

EXAMINING THE INTERPLAY OF MENTAL HEALTH, FAMILY CONFLICT, AND BODY MASS INDEX AMONG MEXICAN ORIGIN FAMILIES: A CROSS-LAGGED MODEL

A DISSERTATION SUBMITTED TO THE FACULTY OF THE GRADUATE SCHOOL IN CANDIDACY FOR THE DEGREE OF DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

PROGRAM IN CLINICAL PSYCHOLOGY

BY

LAURA M. L. DISTEL CHICAGO, IL AUGUST 2021 Copyright by Laura Distel, 2021 All rights reserved.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank my dissertation committee, Drs. Amy Bohnert, Joanna Buscemi and Christine Li-Grining, for their expert and thoughtful review of my dissertation. I would like to extend a huge thank you to my dissertation chair, Dr. Catherine DeCarlo Santiago for her many reviews of my drafts, consistent feedback, and encouragement throughout the dissertation process and my graduate career. I would like to thank the Foundation for Child Development and the Robinson Family Summer Research Scholarship for providing support to this project. I would not have been able to complete this research without the help of the many research assistants and graduate assistants in the CASA Lab who lent hundreds of hours to interviewing participants and video coding family interaction tasks—thank you. I am also deeply grateful for the time and trust placed in us by the families who participated in this study. I would like to thank Dad and Emmy, my dear friends, and my cohort for supporting me throughout the ups and downs of graduate school. Finally, I would not have been able to complete this work without the gifts of love, warmth, and fortitude from Mom, Grandma and Nana.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	iii
LIST OF TABLES	v
LIST OF FIGURES	vi
ABSTRACT	vii
CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION	1
CHAPTER TWO: REVIEW OF RELEVANT LITERATURE	3
Theoretical and Empirical Foundation	5
Mental Health and Childhood Obesity	7
Family Conflict and Childhood Obesity	10
Family Conflict and Child Mental Health	13
Family Conflict Methodology	15
The Role of Sex	15
Limitations of Prior Research and Present Study	17
CHAPTER THREE: RESEARCH METHODS	22
Participants	22
Procedures	23
Measures	24
Data Analytic Strategy	27
CHAPTER FOUR: RESULTS	31
Preliminary Analyses	31
Cross-lagged Path Analyses	33
CHAPTER FIVE: DISCUSSION	41
Externalizing Symptoms, Family Conflict and zBMI (Aim 2, Aim 4)	41
Internalizing Symptoms, Family Conflict and zBMI (Aim 1, Aim 3)	45
Sex Differences (Aim 5)	47
Implications	48
Strengths and Limitations	49
Future Directions	50
REFERENCE LIST	52
VITA	63

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Descriptive Statistics and Correlations for Study Variables	32
Table 2. Summary of Structural Equation Models	33
Table 3. Unstandardized value, standardized value, standard error of unstandardized value, and significance for all path coefficients and correlated residual variances for zBMI, externalizing symptoms and food specific family conflict.	35
Table 4. Unstandardized value, standardized value, standard error of unstandardized value, and significance for all path coefficients and correlated residual variances for zBMI, child reported depressive symptoms and general family conflict with controlling for age.	37
Table 5. Unstandardized value, standardized value, standard error of unstandardized value, and significance for all path coefficients and correlated residual variances for zBMI, externalizing symptoms and general family conflict.	39

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Conceptual model of interplay of mental health, conflict and zBMI	4
Figure 2. Model 1 cross-lagged model of zBMI, internalizing symptoms and food specific family conflict	19
Figure 3. Model 2 cross-lagged model of zBMI, externalizing symptoms and food specific family conflict	20
Figure 4. Model 3 cross-lagged model zBMI, internalizing symptoms, and general family conflict	20
Figure 5. Model 4 cross-lagged model of BMI, externalizing symptoms, and general family conflict 2	21
Figure 6. Standardized structural equation modeling results for the relations among zBMI, externalizing symptoms and food specific family conflict.	36
Figure 7. Standardized structural equation modeling results for the relations among zBMI, externalizing symptoms and general family conflict.	38

ABSTRACT

Mexican-origin youth in the U.S. are at risk for obesity (Fryar et al., 2018) and mental health concerns (McLaughlin, Hilt, & Nolen-Hoeksema, 2007). One key psychosocial process implicated in this health inequity is family conflict (Conger et al., 1999), which has been associated with both poor mental health outcomes (e.g. Santiago & Wadsworth, 2009) and overweight and obesity (Halliday et al., 2013). However, no research to date has examined the complex interplay of family conflict, mental health problems and body mass indices (BMI) over time. The present study examined cross-lagged associations among child z-scored BMI (zBMI), mental health problems (internalizing symptoms and externalizing symptoms) and family conflict at three time-points over the course of one year during middle childhood. Participants included 104 low-income Mexican-origin immigrant families with children ages 6-10 ($M_{age} =$ 8.39; 61% female). Questionnaires, anthropomorphic measurements, and observational data were collected at three timepoints over the course of one year. Cross-lagged path analyses were conducted and equivalence testing was used to examine sex differences in model fit. Of the panel models examined, only one demonstrated significant cross-lagged associations over time: externalizing symptoms, food specific family conflict and child zBMI. Model fit was equivalent for males and females across models. Findings suggest that conflict about food choice and eating may be an important area of intervention for school-age youth with overweight or obesity, in particular, in its relationship with externalizing behaviors.

CHAPTER ONE

INTRODUCTION

There are currently two million children of Latinx immigrants in the U.S. today, and approximately 27% of foreign-born immigrants in the U.S. are from Mexico (Center for American Progress, 2014; Park, Zong & Batalova, 2018). Latinx youth have some of the highest rates of obesity and overweight in the U.S. (Ogden et al., 2020). This is concerning because childhood overweight and obesity are associated with several negative health consequences including pediatric metabolic disease, cardiovascular disease and several types of cancer in adulthood (Biro & Wien, 2010). Furthermore, Latinx youth are at increased risk for mental health problems compared to their non-Latinx counterparts due to systemic inequality (McLaughlin, Hilt, & Nolen-Hoeksema, 2007). Mental health problems in childhood may interfere with important developmental milestones and are also linked to later mental and physical health problems (e.g. Carter et al., 2010). Thus, the experience of both obesity and mental health problems in childhood and adolescence places youth at high risk for life-long and chronic health problems. Research suggests that there are several "interlocking mechanisms" that perpetuate these health inequities, including discrimination, chronic stress, and lack of access to resources (Marks, Ejesi, & García Cole, 2014). In addition to and within this broader context, psychosocial processes also impact children's physical and mental health (Barajas-Gonzalez, Ayón, & Torres, 2018). One key psychosocial process that has been implicated in these health

inequities is family conflict (Conger et al., 1999), which has been associated with both poor mental health outcomes (e.g. Santiago & Wadsworth, 2009) and overweight and obesity (Halliday, Palma, Mellor, Green & Renzaho, 2014). Thus, it is essential to examine the interplay of these key factors (mental health, obesity and family conflict) over time.

Past research has found that children with overweight or obesity have higher rates of both externalizing and internalizing problems than their normal weighted peers (Kalarchian & Marcus, 2012). Additionally, family conflict has been implicated in both mental health problems for youth (e.g. Formoso, Gonzales, & Aiken, 2000) and overweight and obesity (e.g. Martin-Biggers et al., 2018). However, no research to date has examined the complex interplay of family conflict, mental health problems and body mass indices (BMI) over time. Thus, the present study aimed to expand upon previous research by exploring the interplay among child BMI, mental health symptoms and family conflict at three time-points over the course of one year during middle childhood. The present study tested this conceptual model using cross-lagged path analysis, which examined how family conflict, mental health and child BMI impact each other overtime among Mexican-origin youth.

CHAPTER TWO

REVIEW OF RELEVANT LITERATURE

There are currently two million children of Latinx immigrants in the U.S. today, and approximately 27% of foreign-born immigrants in the U.S. are from Mexico (Center for American Progress, 2014; Park, Zong & Batalova, 2018). Latinx youth have some of the highest rates of obesity and overweight in the U.S. (Ogden et al., 2020). This is concerning because childhood overweight and obesity are associated with several negative health consequences including pediatric metabolic disease, cardiovascular disease and several types of cancer in adulthood (Biro & Wien, 2010). Furthermore, Latinx youth are at increased risk for mental health problems compared to their non-Latinx counterparts due to systemic inequality (McLaughlin, Hilt, & Nolen-Hoeksema, 2007). Mental health problems in childhood may interfere with important developmental milestones and are also linked to later mental and physical health problems (e.g. Carter et al., 2010). Thus, the experience of both obesity and mental health problems in childhood and adolescence places youth at high risk for life-long and chronic health problems. Research suggests that there are several "interlocking mechanisms" that perpetuate these health inequities, including discrimination, chronic stress, and lack of access to resources (Marks, Ejesi, & García Cole, 2014). In addition to and within this broader context, psychosocial processes also impact children's physical and mental health (Barajas-Gonzalez, Ayón, & Torres, 2018). One key psychosocial process that has been implicated in these health inequities is family conflict (Conger et al., 1999), which has been associated with both poor

mental health outcomes (e.g. Santiago & Wadsworth, 2009) and overweight and obesity (Halliday, Palma, Mellor, Green & Renzaho, 2014). Thus, it is essential to examine the interplay of these key factors (mental health, obesity and family conflict) over time.

Past research has found that children with overweight or obesity have higher rates of both externalizing and internalizing problems than their normal weighted peers (Kalarchian & Marcus, 2012). Additionally, family conflict has been implicated in both mental health problems for youth (e.g. Formoso, Gonzales, & Aiken, 2000) and overweight and obesity (e.g. Martin-Biggers et al., 2018). However, no research to date has examined the complex interplay of family conflict, mental health problems and BMI over time. Thus, the present study aimed to expand upon previous research by exploring the interplay among child BMI, mental health symptoms and family conflict at three time-points over the course of one year during middle childhood. The present study tested this conceptual model (Figure 1) using cross-lagged path analysis, which examined how family conflict, mental health and child BMI impact each other overtime among Mexican-origin youth from low-income backgrounds.

Figure 1. Conceptual model of interplay of mental health, conflict and zBMI



Theoretical and Empirical Foundation

Several models provide a framework for studying the physical and mental health inequities among low-income Mexican-origin youth. One such model is an ecological framework (Ecological Systems Theory; EST, Bronfenbrenner, 1979), which places children in the context of policy, community, and families. This model has been used to explain the multiple interrelated factors involved in child mental health and general adaptation as well as physical health outcomes (e.g. Stokols, Allen, & Bellingham, 1996). Utilizing an ecological model to contextualize health inequities in Mexican-origin families with low incomes is important given the risk for high levels of ecological stress in this population due to the experiences of poverty and immigrant-related stressors (Barajas-Gonzalez, Ayón, & Torres, 2018; Slack & Jensen, 2007; Yoshikawa, Suarez-Orozco & Gonzales, 2016). Mexican-origin youth from low-income backgrounds experience multiple levels of systemic inequalities that create vulnerabilities to obesity and mental health problems (Barajas-Gonzalez, Ayón, & Torres, 2018). Within this context, family level and personal level factors may also play a role in the maintenance of obesity and mental health problems over time. Several models have sought to understand how family functioning within a highly stressful context impacts children's health (e.g. Barajas-Gonzalez, Ayón, & Torres, 2018; Bates et al., 2018).

Ecological models such as the Family Stress Model (FSM; Conger et al., 2002) and Family Ecological Model (FEM; Davison, Jurkowski, & Lawson, 2013) have examined family functioning as a key context through which children's mental and physical health are impacted. FSM posits that poverty impacts children by disrupting parental and family functioning, which in turn negatively impacts child functioning (Conger et al., 2002). FSM is an important lens for examining the development of Mexican-origin youth with low-income because it highlights how broader environmental influences, such as poverty and discrimination, impact family functioning, which in turn impacts child functioning. Similarly, in the obesity literature, FEM has been used to examine the family contextual factors related to obesity and focuses on the family as the center of the model and target of interventions (Davison, Jurkowski, & Lawson, 2013). In the development of FEM, Davison and colleagues (2013) surveyed a low-income sample and found that participants emphasized the impact of challenges in family functioning (e.g. stress around meal preparation, conflict among siblings, and differences in parenting strategies) on child weight management. Thus, FEM highlights the need to examine children's health within the context of their overall family functioning. Furthermore, social-ecological models of childhood obesity have underscored the transactional relations among children's emotional regulation and family feeding practices on children's weight management over the course of development (Bohnert, Loren, & Miller, 2020; Fiese & Jones, 2012; Fiese & Bost, 2016; Fiese & Sameroff, 1989). Thus, utilizing a family ecological approach is essential for understanding the multilevel systems at play in psychosocial and health functioning of Mexicanorigin youth and their families.

These ecological models of health underscore the multiple factors that influence childhood obesity and mental health inequities for Mexican-origin youth from low-income backgrounds. While this study did not aim to test the ecological model as a whole, it utilized this lens to better understand the interplay of several key factors (mental health, BMI and family conflict) across time. Furthermore, ecological models also emphasize the impact of the child on his or her own environment. However, studies often fail to examine these bidirectional effects (Pardini, 2008). As such, this study used an ecological lens with a focus on family functioning while using a cross-lagged approach to gain greater understanding into the dynamic interplay of child physical and mental health and family functioning. The present study aimed to examine individual and family level factors that affect youth development, as these are frequently targeted areas for intervention in the mental health and obesity literature (Mead et al., 2017). In particular, the present study aimed to examine how family conflict, as well as children's own mental health and BMI impacts one another over time.

Mental Health and Childhood Obesity

The increased incidence of mental health problems among children who are obese has led researchers to examine the relations between weight and mental health problems. For example, past research has found overall higher rates of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD), depression and binge eating disorders among children who are obese (Kalarchian & Marcus, 2012; Puder & Munsch, 2010). However, mental health concerns and obesity are not consistently correlated at a single time point, and it is still unclear what developmental processes are involved in this relation (Kalarchian & Marcus, 2012). Previous research has found that emotion regulation strategies, which underlie several mental health conditions, are also important factors in preventing excessive weight gain in childhood (Fiese & Bost, 2016; Power et al., 2016), and improving self-regulation skills has been used as an intervention strategy for obesity prevention in young children (Miller et al., 2012; Miller, Rosenblum, Retzloff, & Lumeng, 2016). Emotion-regulation deficits, which have been identified as key areas of intervention for childhood obesity, also increase risk for mental health concerns. Given the increased incidence of mental health concerns among children with overweight or obesity and research suggesting emotion regulation

deficits among this population, it is important to examine how these factors may affect one another over time.

Internalizing symptoms and overweight. Internalizing problems, which are conceptualized as social withdrawal, anxious and depressive symptoms, may impact childhood obesity over time. Past research has found correlational associations between depression and obesity (e.g. Fiese, Everhart, & Wildenger, 2009; Atlantis & Baker, 2008). Several factors have been proposed to explain the relation between overweight/obesity and depression, including the use of food as coping with depressive symptoms (Camfferman et al., 2016). Other hypotheses include a common underlying biological predisposition for both overweight/obesity and internalizing concerns (Kalarchian & Marcus, 2012). Researchers have also highlighted effects of obesity on self-esteem: one study examining obese children found that they were significantly more likely to have low self-esteem four years later compared to normal-weighted peers (Wang, Wild, Kipp, Kuhle, & Veugelers, 2009). A meta-analytic study of adults found that depression significantly increases the odds ratio of becoming overweight or obese longitudinally (De Wit, et al., 2010). However, directionality is unclear as the study also found that having overweight or obesity significantly increases odds ratio of becoming depressed longitudinally (De Wit, et al., 2010).

Three studies have examined the cross-lagged longitudinal associations between BMI and internalizing symptoms among youth, with mixed evidence for directionality of the association. One large study of multiethnic U.S. children from 24 months to sixth grade used cross-lagged path analyses to examine interrelations between internalizing and BMI over seven time-points (Bradley et al. 2008). The researchers found that beginning in first grade, BMI was positively associated with later internalizing symptoms (Bradley et al., 2008). Furthermore, Bradley and colleagues (2008) found that internalizing symptoms did not predict later BMI. However, other research has found evidence for the opposite direction of the effect: A study of Dutch children at 18 months, three and six years found that internalizing symptoms at 18 months were predictive of overweight at age three, and internalizing symptoms at age three were predictive of overweight at age six (Camfferman et al., 2016). Finally, one study found no association between internalizing and BMI: a large Norwegian study examined the cross-lagged effects of internalizing and BMI for toddlers at 18 months and 36 months and found no association (Garthus-Niegel, Hagtvet, & Vollrath, 2010). As such, while previous research has examined the interrelations between internalizing symptoms and BMI using cross-lagged models, these studies have primarily focused on preschool-aged youth and have had mixed findings.

Externalizing symptoms and overweight. Externalizing symptoms, which are conceptualized as disruptive and behavioral problems, have also been found to be associated with childhood obesity and overweight. For example, one German study found higher rates of ADHD among teens (ages 11-17) with overweight or obesity compared to peers with normal weight. Additionally, a large U.S. study of children ages 5-17 found that children with ADHD who did not use stimulant medications were more likely to be overweight than those who did not have ADHD or those who received stimulant medications (Waring & Lapane, 2008). Furthermore, a study examining overweight children and young adolescents in the U.S. found that symptoms of ADHD were significantly positively associated with binge eating behaviors (Egbert et al., 2018). Hypotheses for the underlying mechanisms for these associations include differences in impulsivity, aggression and hyperactivity (Camfferman et al., 2016). Underlying

problems with executive functioning, such as response inhibition may also contribute to high rates of obesity among children with ADHD (Nederkoorn et al., 2006). A large body of research has found evidence for the impact of self-regulation and self-control in childhood weight management over time (e.g. Golan & Bachner-Melman, 2011; Datar & Chung, 2018). Difficulties with executive control, such as response inhibition, self-regulation and control, may impact externalizing symptoms as well as weight management.

Beyond executive functioning difficulties, past research suggests that externalizing symptoms may play a causal role in the development of pediatric obesity (Aguirre Castaneda et al., 2016; White et al., 2012); however, there is limited use of cross-lagged analyses to examine this complex relationship. Only two studies have examined the interplay between BMI and externalizing problems in children: In Camfferman and colleagues' 2016 study of Dutch children at 18 months, three and six years, the researchers found that externalizing symptoms at three years old were associated with overweight at age six. However, another cross-lagged study of toddlers at 18 months and 36 months found no longitudinal associations between BMI and externalizing symptoms (Garthus-Niegel, Hagtvet, & Vollrath, 2010). Therefore, although there is some evidence to suggest associations between externalizing symptoms and BMI among children, research has been mixed in regards to cross-lagged longitudinal studies, and no research has specifically focused on an at-risk population such as Mexican-origin school aged youth living in low-income homes.

Family Conflict and Childhood Obesity

Family conflict may be a particularly important variable when studying low-income Mexican-origin youth's development, as broad contextual factors such as acculturation gaps as well as poverty have been associated with increased family conflict, particularly among adolescents (Gonzales, Deardoff, Formosos, Barr, & Barrera, 2006; Voydanoff & Donnelly, 1988). The presence of high family conflict may place children at risk for overweight/obesity given that multiple indicators of family environment have been linked with child weight in a systematic review of the literature (Bates et al., 2018). Family functioning has long been targeted by interventions and prevention efforts for childhood obesity (Mead et al., 2017). In fact, eating family meals as a family is a commonly used obesity prevention strategy (Hammons & Fiese, 2011). Furthermore, research examining family functioning during mealtimes has found that calm mealtimes are associated with better quality diets for children (Boutelle, Birnbaum, Lytle, Murray, & Story, 2003; Burnier, Dubois, & Girard, 2011). Thus, conflictual family environments may play an important role in the development and maintenance of overweight/obesity during childhood. Finally, family conflict is a broad construct that likely encompasses both overall family discord within the home as well as struggles related to specific disagreements around parental expectations for children. While specific conflicts, such as those around eating and food choices, may not be indicative of overall family discord, it is likely that these constructs impact one another.

General family conflict. General family conflict has been found to be related to childhood weight problems. Family conflict is broadly defined in the literature as a "pervasive environment of anger and discord in home" where "interrelations are characterized by anger and conflict" (Jaycox & Repetti, 1993, p.344), and past research has tied it to several negative health sequelae, including increased risk of metabolic syndrome (Penedo et al., 2015). Several links have been found between childhood obesity and family conflict. For example, Martin-Biggers

and colleagues (2018) found that families with higher conflict had increased prevalence of several risk factors for childhood obesity including eating together as a family less often and consuming more total fat and salty/fatty snack servings and fewer fruit/vegetable servings than families with lower conflict. Furthermore, Hanson and colleagues (1990) found that higher family conflict, as measured by broad conflict scales, was positively correlated with child BMI. Another study found that higher family conflict as rated on a broad family conflict scale was associated with both adolescent and mother BMI (Hooper et al., 2009). A 2007 study comparing obese youth and normal weighted youth found that obese youth had higher general family conflict than normal weighted comparisons (Zeller et al., 2007). However, there is some evidence to suggest that this association may not be consistent (e.g., Gibson et al, 2007; Herzer et al., 2010; Stradmeijer et al., 2000). Despite these compelling findings, very few longitudinal studies have been conducted to examine how general family functioning impacts childhood weight management over time nor how child obesity may be linked to conflict across time (Halliday et al., 2014). In their 2014 systematic review of the impact of family functioning on child obesity, Halliday and colleagues found only one longitudinal study examining relation between family functioning and childhood obesity and overweight. To date, no cross-lagged panel analyses have been conducted to assess the interplay of general family conflict and child weight. More research is needed to further examine the longitudinal and bidirectional role of family conflict on children's weight management.

Food specific family conflict. Management of diet for children with overweight or obesity may become an area of conflict in families, and some past research has focused on family conflict specifically related to eating. One qualitative study in which researchers

interviewed obese adolescents and their families identified family conflict about adolescent autonomy in management of feeding (food choice and quantity) as a major theme (Ramalho, Lachal, Bucher-Maluschke, Moro, & Revah-Levy, 2016). Furthermore, the researchers found that adolescents felt distant from other family members at mealtime, particularly when they were required to eat different foods than other members of the family (Ramalho et al., 2016). Quantitative studies examining eating specific conflict has found that mealtimes with families of children with overweight and obesity have more hostility than for those with children of normal weight (Berge et al., 2014). Additionally, Zeller and colleagues (2007) found that mothers of youth who were obese reported greater mealtime challenges than those of youth who were not obese. However, there is a lack of research examining the longitudinal relations between food specific family conflict and youth BMI, and no research to date has examined this association using cross-lagged path analyses. As such, little is known regarding the directionality of this association: greater conflict about what types of food children eat may in turn lead to greater difficulties with weight management. Thus, eating and food specific conflict, in addition to general family conflict, may add to the complex interplay of child mental health and BMI.

Family Conflict and Child Mental Health

There is a longstanding research base on the role of family conflict on child mental health and adaptation (e.g., Grych & Fincham, 1990; Jouriles, Farris, & McDonald, 1991; Reid & Crisafulli, 1990). Highly conflictual family environments have been associated with child externalizing problems (e.g., Jaycox & Repetti, 1993), and this association has been found in diverse samples of children, including Mexican American youth (e.g., Formoso, Gonzales, & Aiken, 2000). For example, one study of adolescents found that increased mother-child conflict was associated with more adolescent conduct problems (Caples & Barrera, 2006). Furthermore, within a context of high-risk neighborhoods, family conflict has been found independently predict children's externalizing symptoms over time (Mason, Cauce, Gonzales, Hiraga, & Grove, 1994). Family conflict has also been associated with internalizing symptoms—a study of families from diverse ethnic backgrounds found that family conflict within the context of poverty related stress was significantly associated with child internalizing symptoms (Santiago & Wadsworth, 2009). Furthermore, previous research specifically focusing on Mexican-origin youth has found that greater family conflict predicted child depressive symptoms (Dumka, Roosa, & Jackson, 1997) and internalizing symptoms in general (Roosa et al., 2005). Thus, there is strong evidence that highly conflictual households may increase children's risk for developing both internalizing and externalizing problems.

Children with internalizing and externalizing disorders may also influence family functioning and increase overall levels of conflict within the household. Children's internalizing and externalizing symptoms may lead to family conflict by increasing the burden of the family system (Carter et al., 2010). Past research has examined how children's mental health problems may increase parenting stress over time (Neece, Green, & Baker, 2012). Additionally, research has found reciprocal relations between youth internalizing and externalizing symptoms and quality of parent child relationships over time (Zhang, Chen, Zhang, Zhou, & Wu, 2008). One study that used cross-lagged analyses found that sixth and seventh grade children's internalizing and externalizing symptoms were related to worse parent-child relationships over time (Fanti, Henrich, Brookmeyer, & Kuperminc, 2008). Furthermore, the researchers found that parent-child relationships also impacted youth externalizing and internalizing symptoms (Fanti et al., 2008). Therefore, the effects of family conflict and mental health may be bidirectional, with both family functioning and child symptoms impacting each other over time.

Family Conflict Methodology

Previous research on family conflict and BMI has used singular methods to measure family conflict including self-report surveys, individual interviews, and observations during mealtime (Skouteris et al, 2012). Single methods of examining family conflict may not accurately represent the broad construct of conflict within the family system. Observational data provides a greater level of ecological validity than quantitative measurement alone (Whitley & Kite, 2013), and this may be particularly important when examining complex family interactions (Lindahl, 2000). Furthermore, separating general family conflict from food-specific conflict may allow for a more nuanced examination of the bidirectional relations between family functioning and child zBMI and mental health symptoms. Measuring family conflict outside the context of meals may provide a broader, more general measurement of family conflict while utilizing a selfreported measure of food-related conflict may provide a more subjective measurement of conflict related to eating behaviors within at-risk families. As such, the present study will use a multimethod approach by analyzing both family conflict using video-coded observational data as well as self-reported levels of food related conflict.

The Role of Sex

Sex may impact the relations among child mental health, BMI and family conflict. Development of both physical and mental health conditions may vary based on sex, due to social norms based on assigned gender roles, behaviors and expectations, and possibly due to biological physiology (Tannenbaum, Clow, Haworth-Brockman & Voss, 2017). Past research has found that females may be more susceptible to mental health problems in relation to weight than males (Wang, Wild, Kipp, Kuhle, & Vuegelers, 2009). For example, research examining the linear relation between behavioral problems and obesity found an association for female adolescents, but not males (Lawlor et al., 2005). However, other research has found that the fit of crosslagged models between mental health problems and overweight were similar for males and females (Camfferman et al., 2016; De Wit et al., 2010; Bradley et al., 2008). Additionally, there may be sex differences in the relation between family conflict and BMI: One study found that the association between poorer family functioning and obesity varied by sex (Halliday et al., 2014). Furthermore, from a cultural lens, research suggests that Latinx immigrant parents may exhibit different gender-specific feeding practices for sons and daughters, which may be due to gendered beliefs and preferences about weight and size of males and females (Van Hook & Baker, 2010). Past research has found that Latinx immigrant parents may be more permissive with feeding practices among sons (Van Hook & Baker, 2010). As such, the bidirectional effects of family conflict and BMI among females may be more pronounced than for males. Finally, sex may also impact the interrelations between family conflict and mental health problems over time: Past research examining family conflict has found differing results, with some research indicating equivalent effects of family conflict on males and females (e.g., Smojver-Ažić & Bezinović, 2011; Burt, McGue, Krueger, & Iacono, 2005) and others indicating differences (e.g., Formoso, Gonzales, & Aiken, 2000). Thus, there is mixed evidence on the effect of sex on the complex interplay of child mental health, BMI, and family conflict and further research is needed to examine whether transactional effects of mental health, obesity and family conflict are similar among school aged males and females.

Limitations of Prior Research and Present Study

The present study examined cross-lag associations of three key factors (mental health, obesity and family conflict) over time. Although research has examined the interplay of mental health on childhood weight management, several gaps in the research remain. Past research has analyzed changes in weight over a broad time span, examining changes from toddlerhood to adolescence (e.g., Garthus-Niegel, Hagtvet & Vollrath, 2010; Camfferman et al., 2016). While this approach provides insight into early risk and long-term effects of mental health, it is essential to understand the immediate impacts of mental health and childhood obesity on each other during middle childhood. In particular, studying school age may be particularly important as this is a time in childhood when responsibilities around eating increase and prevalence of mental illness (Ghandour et al., 2019) and obesity (Fryar et al., 2019) also rise. Research also suggests that late childhood and early adolescence is a critical developmental period in which overweight/obesity racial and ethnic inequities increase (Huh, Stice, Shaw & Boutelle, 2012). Family conflict has also been implicated in both mental health problems for youth (e.g., Formoso, Gonzales, & Aiken, 2000) as well as overweight and obesity (e.g. Martin-Biggers et al., 2018). However, no research to date has examined the complex interplay of family conflict, mental health problems and BMI over time in one model. The present study aimed to expand upon previous research exploring the interrelations between child BMI and mental health problems as well as family conflict and mental health at three time-points over the course of one year during middle childhood. This study aimed to test a novel model that examines how family conflict, mental health and BMI affects each other overtime within a high-risk population: Mexican-origin youth in low-income homes.

Longitudinal cross-lagged path analysis allows for the examination of the direction of influence among variables that are measured over time. Drawing on a dataset that included three time points over one year provides a unique opportunity to examine the interplay among childhood BMI, mental health and family conflict among an at-risk sample. Path analysis offers flexibility in modeling repeated measures designs because it accounts for the interdependence of covariances over time through stability paths (Kline, 2005). Additionally, cross-lagged path analysis provides an ability to test models of covaried factors that may be bidirectional (Selig & Little, 2012). Such opportunity is essential where there is mixed evidence of directionality (Selig & Little, 2012). Thus, the present study utilized a cross-lagged path analysis in order to examine the complex interrelations of these family and individual factors over time.

Aims and hypotheses. Aim 1 of this study was to test a cross-lagged model examining the transactional effects zBMI, internalizing symptoms and food specific family conflict in school-aged Mexican-origin children over three time points over the course of a year (see Figure 2). It was hypothesized that there would be cross-lagged effects among these variables over time. It was hypothesized that higher zBMI, internalizing symptoms and food specific family conflict would lead to higher zBMI, internalizing symptoms and food specific conflict cross-lagged effects over time. Aim 2 of this study was to examine the interplay of zBMI, externalizing symptoms and food specific family conflict children over three time points over the course of a year (see Figure 3). It was hypothesized that there would be positive cross-lagged associations of zBMI, externalizing symptoms and food specific family conflict over time. Aim 3 of this study was to examine zBMI, internalizing symptoms, and general family conflict over three time points over the course of a year (see Figure 4). It was hypothesized that there would be significant positive cross-lagged effects of zBMI, internalizing symptoms and general family conflict over the course of the year. **Aim 4** of this study was to examine the transactional effects of zBMI, externalizing symptoms, and general family conflict over three time points over the course of a year (see Figure 5). It was hypothesized that there will be significant, positive cross-lagged effects of zBMI, externalizing symptoms and general family conflict over the three time points.







Figure 3. Model 2 cross-lagged model of zBMI, externalizing symptoms and food specific family conflict

Figure 4. Model 3 cross-lagged model zBMI, internalizing symptoms, and general family conflict





Figure 5. Model 4 cross-lagged model of BMI, externalizing symptoms, and general family conflict

Aim 5 of this study was to explore how models of the interrelations among family conflict, zBMI and mental health may vary based on child sex. It was hypothesized that mental health symptoms and zBMI would be more interrelated for females than for males. Thus, equivalence tests were conducted to determine if sex impacted model fit. Due to limited observations for the parameters that were estimated, these analyses were treated as exploratory.

CHAPTER THREE

RESEARCH METHODS

This research was approved and conducted in compliance with the Loyola University Chicago's Institutional Review Board and the school district's research review committee. **Participants**

Eligible families had at least one Mexican-origin immigrant parent and one child between 6-10 years of age. Only one parent was required to be a Mexican-origin immigrant for the family to participate, but both parents were encouraged to participate in the study. Grandparents or aunts/uncles living in the home and providing care to the child were also included as secondary caregivers if no father was present in the home. Single parent families were also eligible to participate in the study. At T1, 98.1% of primary caregivers were mothers (one uncle and one father were primary caregivers) and 79.2% of secondary caregivers were fathers (there was one mother, nine grandparents, three aunts or uncles, one older sibling, and one stepfather). The majority of children were born in the U.S. (97.1%) and three were born in Mexico (2.9%). Family income was at or below 150% of the federal poverty line at the time of consent. The mean monthly income at T1 for primary caregivers was \$1806.53 for an average of 3.98 family members supported. Out of 162 interested participants, 58 did not meet eligibility criteria, were no longer interested, or were not able to be contacted or scheduled, yielding a final sample of 104 families for T1. In the final sample, at T1, children's ages ranged from 6 to 10 years, $(M_{age} =$ 8.39; 61% female).

Procedures

Data collection consisted of three, three-hour home visits, spaced six months apart. After initial eligibility screening, the family was scheduled for a home visit to complete audio- and video-recorded observational interaction tasks and questionnaires. Bilingual research assistants administered the questionnaires verbally to parents to overcome any language or literacy barriers. Parents completed a parent-report questionnaire packet and parents and children completed audio- and videotaped family interaction tasks together. At the end of the visit, children had their height and weight measured if they had assented to this and their parents consented. BMI measurement was conducted in the privacy of the home, and children were given the option to step into a room away from the other family members with the research assistants if they preferred (some children preferred to stay with their parent).

Interaction task. Families (mother and/or father, youth) completed a set of audio- and video-recorded interaction tasks. The family conflict task is based on the Family Social Interaction Task (Smetana, Yau & Hanson, 1991). Prior to the conflict task, parents and children completed the Parent-Adolescent Conflict (PAC) Scale, which is a15-item brief version of the Issues Checklist (Prinz, Foster, Kent, & O'Leary, 1979), where they indicated the frequency and intensity of discussion of various issues over the past 4 weeks (e.g., bedtime, chores). Frequency by intensity scores were created for each issue and the five issues with the highest weighted scores across family members were presented to families. Each family selected three of these issues for a 10-minute discussion.

Measures

Demographics. Parents reported on demographic information, including parent and child age, sex, and race/ethnicity. Parents also provided information about their education, job, and income.

Body Mass Indices. Children were weighed and measured for their height during an initial home visit (T1), 6 months later (T2) and follow-up visit 1 year later (T3). The following anthropometric measurements were collected at each time point: weight, measured to the nearest 0.1 kg (Seca 770, Hamburg, Germany); and height, measured to the nearest 0.1 cm (e.g. Invicta Stadiometer, Invicta, London, UK) and used to calculate BMI (kg/m2). Anthropometric measurements were used to calculate child z-scored BMI (zBMI) based on CDC growth charts (Kuczmarski et al., 2002). zBMI has been identified as an appropriate measurement of adiposity for youth in previous research as it takes into consideration youth's body mass and height in relation to normed growth charts (e.g. Kakinami, Henderson, Chiolero, Cole, & Paradis, 2014). At T1, 11 children declined to participate in the anthropometric measurements, and at T3, 12 children declined to participate or were unable to be reached for follow-up.

Food specific family conflict ratings. Food specific family conflict was rated as part of the Parent-Adolescent Conflict (PAC) Scale, which is a15-item brief version of the Issues Checklist (Prinz, Foster, Kent, & O'Leary, 1979). The PAC is composed of a list of potential conflicts often discussed in families with a preadolescent child (e.g., whether or not the child does chores around the house). Each item requires three responses. The family member first responds "yes" or "no" according to whether or not the issue was discussed during the last two weeks. If yes, the family member indicates the number of times the issue was discussed and the average intensity of the discussion. Intensity is rated on a 5-point Likert scale (ranging from "calm" to "angry"). Frequency X intensity ratings were scored for the parents and child and then averaged across raters to create a total conflict score at the family level. For this study, food specific family conflict was measured using the average frequency x intensity rating across family members for conflict around what the child eats.

Observed general family conflict. Observed general family conflict was coded using a global-coding method called the Family Interaction Macro-coding System (FIMS; Holmbeck, Zebracki, Johnson, Belvedere, Hommeyer, 2007). FIMS has established reliability and construct validity with various samples of youth and their families (Kaugars et al., 2011). The conflict code is defined in the FIMS coding manual as conflict as evidenced by both verbal (statements that indicate a verbally defensive reaction; interrupting abruptly another member's speech to impose own ideas; speaking loudly to another member) and nonverbal behaviors (looking bothered; body gestures indicating hesitation or excitement; tension between family members) (Holmbeck et al., 2007). Amicable conflict (e.g., dyad is supportive of each individual despite the conflict, mood continues to be relatively light even with the conflict) was scored lower than disagreeable conflict. A score of "1" would indicate no conflict and a score of "5" would indicate the highest level of conflict and disagreement. Videos were coded by trained, Spanish-English bilingual research assistants. All research assistants followed the same coding methodology and were trained by the same study coordinator.

Research assistants were trained for a minimum of 10 hours prior to coding videos. Training involved reviewing five previously coded interactions and thoroughly discussing each item from the coding manual with an expert coder. After completing training, research assistants independently coded five new interactions which had been coded previously by expert coders. If 90% agreement with expert coders was reached during this trial (agreement = concordance across coders within one point on the Likert scale), research assistants could proceed independently. All interactions were coded by two research assistants. Interrater reliabilities were computed across coders and tasks for each family coping code by calculating the percent agreement (within 1 point on the Likert scale) and Intraclass correlations (ICCs). Conflict was rated separately between each dyad (i.e., primary caregiver and child, secondary caregiver and child, and primary and secondary caregivers). All dyads at all three time points demonstrated acceptable ICCs (>.40) based on standards set forth by Cichetti and colleagues (1994): T1 primary caregiver and child conflict (ICC = .69); T2 primary caregiver and child conflict (ICC = .71); T3 primary caregiver and child conflict (ICC = .65); T1 secondary caregiver and child conflict (ICC = .63); T2 secondary caregiver and child conflict (ICC = .58); T3 secondary caregiver and child conflict (ICC = .72); T1 primary and secondary caregiver conflict (ICC = .54); T2 primary and secondary caregiver conflict (ICC = .82); T3 primary and secondary caregiver conflict (ICC = .90).

Child mental health. Primary caregivers reported children's internalizing and externalizing behaviors over the past 6 months using the Child Behavior Checklist for Ages 6–18 (CBCL; Achenbach and Rescorla 2001). The internalizing scale consists of 32 items that assess

anxiety, depression, and somatic symptoms. The externalizing scale consists of 35 items that assess aggressive and rule-breaking behavior. Items were rated by caregivers using a three-point scale (0 = not true, 1 = somewhat or sometimes true, 2 = very true or often true). Raw scores were used in present analyses. The CBCL has previously demonstrated excellent reliability and validity (Achenbach and Rescorla 2001) and moderate agreement with youth reports (Huang 2017). In the current sample, internal consistency was high. Alphas ranged from .82 to .89 for the internalizing scale and .83 to .87 for the externalizing scale.

Children reported on depression symptoms using the Children's Depression Inventory (CDI; Kovacs, 1992). The CDI is a 27-item measure; however, for this study one item assessing suicidal ideation was removed. Children selected statements that best described their thoughts, feelings and behaviors over the past two weeks. For example, children selected either "I am sad once in a while," "I am say many times," or "I am sad all the time." Although the CDI is validated with children ages 7-17 (Kovacs, 1992), this measure has been used with 6-year-olds (e.g., Langley et al., 2015). In the present study, the alphas ranged 0.77 to 0.81.

Data Analytic Strategy

Preliminary data analyses. Prior to hypothesis testing, the psychometric properties of all measures were evaluated in SPSS. Descriptive statistics were computed for all outcome measures to determine basic distributional properties. Need for data transformation and reduction techniques was examined. Descriptive analyses of mental health, zBMI, and family conflict were conducted using frequency measures and Pearson's bivariate correlations. Eleven participants were missing zBMI measurements at T1 due to changes in data gathering procedure during the

initiation of home visits. *T*-tests was used to determine if participants missing zBMI at T1 differed significantly from those with data at that timepoint. Missing data procedures were handled in Mplus version 8.3 (Muthén & Muthén, 2017). Under the assumption that data is Missing at Random (MAR), Mplus has the capability to adjust for the relatively small amount of missing data using full information maximum estimation (Muthén & Muthén, 2017). Full information maximum estimation likelihood (FIML) allows for all cases to be retained in analysis (Kline, 2008); however, it does not impute new data (Hayes, Montoya & Rockwood, 2017). This method of multivariate estimation for incomplete data has been found to generally outperform traditional imputation methods (Peters & Enders, 2002).

Path Analyses. Path analyses (Aims 1-5) were estimated using structural equation modelling (SEM) through Mplus version 8.3 (Muthén & Muthén, 2017). Cross-lag path analyses allow for examining interplay among variables over time while avoiding bias related to assumptions about the direction of the effects (Selig & Little, 2012). Each model included "stability paths" (beta coefficients for a variable at one time point regressed on the same variable at the next time point) from one time point to the next (e.g., T1 Externalizing to T2 Externalizing) and cross-lagged paths (e.g., T1 Externalizing to T2 zBMI). Models initially had six stability paths and 18 cross-lagged paths. A seventh stability path was added due to high stability of zBMI over time (see Preliminary Analyses under Results).

Model fit was assessed using several fit statistics, including the chi-square goodness of fit statistic. For chi-square testing of model fit, non-significance of chi-square indicates good fit (Kenny, 2020). Several other measures of model fit were assessed. The root mean square error of
approximation (RMSEA; Browne & Cudeck, 1992) and the Standardized Root Mean Square Residual (SRMR; Hu & Bentler, 1999) are measures of absolute fit, which measure how close the model is to perfect fit. For RMSEA, values less than .06 indicate good fit and values less than .10 indicate adequate fit (Hu & Bentler, 1999; Browne & Cudeck, 1992; MacCallum, Browne, & Sugawara, 1996). SRMR values less than .08 can be considered indicators of good model fit to the data (Hu & Bentler, 1999). Two measures of relative model fit, the Bentler's comparative fit index (CFI) and the Tucker-Lewis Index (TLI), were conducted. Measures of relative fit measure how much better the given model fits compared to a "null" model (i.e. a model that assumes that sampling error alone accounts for the correlations) (Thill et al., 2003). According to Hu and Bentler (1999), CFI values above .90 indicate good fit. TLI values above .95 indicate good fit and values above .90 indicate adequate fit (Awang, 2015).

Analytic strategy for Aim 1. Two cross-lagged path models (using parent reported and child reported internalizing symptoms separately) were conducted examining the interplay among zBMI, internalizing symptoms, and food specific family conflict (see Figure 2). Analytic strategy for Aim 2: To examine the interplay of zBMI, externalizing symptoms, and food specific family conflict, a cross-lagged model was conducted (see Figure 3). Analytic strategy for Aim 3: To assess the interplay zBMI, internalizing symptoms, and general family conflict, two cross-lagged models (using parent reported and child reported internalizing symptoms) were conducted (see Figure 4). Analytic strategy for Aim 4: To assess the interplay zBMI, externalizing symptoms, and general family conflict, a cross-lagged model was conducted (see Figure 4). Analytic strategy for Aim 4: To assess the interplay zBMI, externalizing symptoms, and general family conflict, a cross-lagged model was conducted (see Figure 5). Analytic strategy for Aim 5. Models with good and adequate fit were tested using

equivalence testing to examine differential fit of the model for males and females. To determine equivalence between model fit for girls and boys, post-hoc multiple group invariance tests were conducted. These comparisons were accomplished by comparing model fit when parameters were freely estimated across groups (i.e. males and females) to models where parameters are constrained to be equal across groups. The overall model was determined to fit well across groups if the change in chi-square ($\Delta \chi^2$) is not significant (Cheung & Rensvold, 2002).

Power for RMSEA for the proposed models were estimated using the method described by Preacher and Coffman (2006). The model showed 84.75% power with a sample size of 104 and 24 degrees of freedom (a = .05, RMSEA_{null} = 0, RMSEA_{alt} = .1). Rule of thumb for SEM indicates that the ratio of sample size to number of free parameters should be at minimum 5 to 1 (Bentler & Chou, 1987). Although the present study falls just on the minimum observations required (4.95 to 1), a power analysis, a more rigorous method of measuring ability to detect model fit indicated sufficient power to conduct analyses (>80%).

CHAPTER FOUR

RESULTS

Preliminary Analyses

All independent and dependent variables were tested for skewness. Results indicated that general family conflict, food specific conflict, zBMI, externalizing, and internalizing symptoms were not highly skewed. Specifically, skewness values of general family conflict, food specific conflict, zBMI, externalizing, and internalizing symptoms ranged from -0.82 to 1.70. Thus, it was not necessary to transform these variables in order to conduct analyses. All variables were also tested for kurtosis. Results revealed that the general family conflict, food specific conflict, zBMI, externalizing, and internalizing variables were not highly platykurtic or leptokurtic. Kurtosis values ranged from -1.02 to 1.65. Independent *t*-tests and chi-square tests revealed that those missing zBMI scores at T1 did not significantly differ from those with zBMI scores at that timepoint in sex (χ^2 = 1.18, p = .278), age (t =1.61, p = .111), or income (t = 0.14, p = .889).

Descriptive statistics and correlations for variables included in this study's primary baseline analyses can be found in Table 1. Children's T1 zBMI scores ranged from -1.66 to 2.72 with a mean of 1.00. Forty-two percent of children were normal weight, 14% were overweight (BMI > 85th percentile) and 37% were obese (BMI > 95th percentile). Using a clinical cutoff score of $t \ge 63$, 21% of children at T1 met the clinical cutoff for internalizing symptoms and 7% met the cutoff for externalizing symptoms.

	n	М	SD	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15	16	17	18	19
1. Age	104	8.39	1.33																			
2. Gender ^t	104	**	**	-0.17	-																	
3. T1 PC Internalizing	102	7.29	7.10	-0.02	0.12	-																
4. T1 PC Externalizing	102	5.06	5.57	-0.13	0.16	0.72**	_															
5. T1 CDI	103	10.77	5.45	-0.18+	0.46	-0.04	0.02	-														
6. T2 PC Internalizing	98	5.78	5.90	0.004	0.19	0.76**	0.48**	0.02	-													
7. T2 PC Externalizing	98	4.02	4.69	-0.16	1.98+	0.52**	0.71**	0.03	0.64**	-												
8.T2 CDI	97	10.52	5.50	29**	-1.78+	0.06	0.11	0.53**	0.06	0.11	-											
9. T3 PC Internalizing	96	6.18	6.24	-0.08	0.28	0.70**	0.45**	-0.04	0.72**	0.45**	.10	_										
10. T3 PC Externalizing	96	4.19	5.39	0.02	1.12	0.58**	0.59**	-0.02	0.64**	0.71**	-0.01	0.68**	-									
11. T3 CDI	97	10.17	5.49	-0.43**	0.01	0.08	0.12	0.46**	0.08	0.17+	0.57**	0.17	0.07	-								
12. T1 Family Conflict	100	1.55	0.61	-0.05	1.34	-0.11	0.07	-0.00	0.04	0.15	-0.08	0.01	0.08	-0.08	-							
13. T2 Family Conflict	94	1.52	0.63	0.04	-0.27	-0.12	0.07	-0.06	0.00	0.11	-0.03	-0.02	0.12	-0.09	0.13	-						
14. T3 Family Conflict	93	1.76	0.65	-0.11	0.70	0.28**	0.11	-0.08	0.37**	0.21*	0.05	0.43**	0.29**	0.03	0.25*	0.08	_					
15. T1 Food Conflict	104	4.45	3.24	-0.16	1.22	0.88	0.22*	0.21*	0.16	0.17+	0.10	0.12	0.12	0.15	0.02	-0.08	-0.07	_				
16. T2 Food Conflict	95	4.01	2.86	-0.08	1.19	0.02	0.17	0.04	0.09	0.26*	0.23*	-0.09	-0.01	0.04	0.12	-0.13	0.00	0.34**	-			
17. T3 Food Conflict	93	3.96	3.22	-0.19+	0.68	0.14	0.27**	0.06	0.26*	0.31**	0.25*	0.27*	0.31**	0.11	0.10	0.06	0.05	0.34**	0.34**	-		
18. T1 zBMI	93	1.00	1.06	-0.05	1.94+	-0.02	0.04	0.01	-0.03	0.05	0.10	0.16	0.14	-0.03	0.14	-0.10	0.18	0.10	0.29**	0.32**	_	
19. T2 zBMI	92	0.95	1.06	-0.04	1.54	0.04	0.00	0.02	0.03	0.05	0.09	0.14	0.10	0.03	0.17	-0.16	0.12	0.06	0.24*	0.29**	0.95**	_
20. T3 zBMI	92	0.95	1.07	-0.08	1.64	0.00	0.06	0.05	0.01	0.12	0.14	0.14	0.12	0.10	0.16	-0.13	0.15	0.10	0.20+	0.31**	0.94**	0.92**
N	ote: *	* <i>p</i> <.01	;* <i>p</i> <,	05; +p<	.10; ^t <i>t</i> -te	est																

Table 1. Descriptive Statistics and Correlations for Study Variables

Further analyses examined the degree of association between child sex and age with other variables included in the analyses. There were no significant associations between income to needs and key study variables. Child age was significantly correlated with T2 child reported depression sum (r = -.291, p = .004) and T3 child reported depression sum (r = -.426, p < .001). Thus, primary analyses using child reported depressive symptoms were run with age as a covariate. There were no significant differences between males and females for the variables examined. However, there were trends for males having higher externalizing symptoms at T2 ($M_{males} = 5.26$, SD = 5.59, $M_{females} = 3.23$, SD = 3.99, t = 1.98, p = .052), females having higher self-reported depressive symptoms at T2 ($M_{males} = 9.35$, SD = 4.39, $M_{females} = 11.23$, SD = 6.01, t

= -1.78, p = .079) and boys having higher zBMI at T1 ($M_{males} = 1.27$, SD = 1.00, $M_{females} = .84$, SD = 1.08, t = 1.94, p = .056). Post-hoc multiple group invariance tests between males and females were conducted to assess differences in the developmental processes by examining differences in overall model fit for boys and girls. zBMI was highly correlated across timepoints, thus demonstrating very high stability over time. T1 and T3 zBMI were correlated at (r = .94, p < .001). Thus, a pathway was included from T1 to T3 zBMI in cross-lagged models to account for this high stability over time.

Cross-lagged Path Analyses

A total of nine cross-lagged path models were conducted (described below). Six models were run to test Aims 1-4 and three models were run to examine Aim 5. See Table 2 for summary of model fit for models.

ls
]

Model	χ2	DF	TLI	CFI	SRMR	RMSEA
zBMI, CR	31.16	18	.943	.974	.070	.084
Internalizing, Food						
Conflict (controlling						
age)						
zBMI, PR	22.99	11	.938	.979	.034	.102
Internalizing, Food						
Conflict						
zBMI, Externalizing,	12.79	11	.990	.997	.038	.040
Food Conflict						
zBMI, CR	27.43	18	.956	.980	.060	.070
Internalizing, General						
Conflict (controlling						
age)						
zBMI, PR	28.25	11	.908	.969	.04	.123
Internalizing, General						
Conflict						
zBMI, Externalizing,	13.79	11	.984	.995	.033	.049
General Conflict						

Note: PR = parent reported; CR = child reported; shaded area indicates reasonably good fitting models.

Aim 1: zBMI, Internalizing Symptoms and Food Specific Family Conflict. Two

models were conducted to test the aim that zBMI, internalizing symptoms and food specific family conflict would have cross-lagged associations over time (Aim 1). When accounting for age at T2 and T3 child reported depressive symptoms, model fit was approaching acceptable fit where $\chi 2$ (18) = 31.16, p = .028; CFI = 0.974; TLI = 0.943; RMSEA = 0.084; SRMR = 0.07. Although CFI and SRMR indicated good fit and RMSEA and TLI indicated adequate fit, $\chi 2$ was poor. A model using parent reported depressive symptoms was also approaching acceptable fit, where $\chi 2$ (11) = 22.99, p = .018; CFI = 0.979; TLI = 0.938; RMSEA = 0.102; SRMR = 0.034. CFI and SRMR indicated good fit, TLI indicated adequate fit, however, $\chi 2$ and RMSEA indicated poor fit. No pathways were interpreted for models tested for Aim 1 because fit indices did not reach appropriate level of acceptability.

Aim 2: zBMI Externalizing Symptoms and Food Specific Family Conflict. To examine the interplay of zBMI, externalizing symptoms and food specific family conflict (Aim 2), one cross-lagged model was conducted. Model fit was reasonably good for χ^2 , indices of absolute fit (SRMR and RMSEA) and indices of relative fit (TLI and CFI) (χ^2 (11) = 12.79, p = .307; CFI = 0.997; TLI = 0.990; RMSEA = 0.04; SRMR = 0.038). As model fit was reasonably good, pathways were examined (see Table 3 for all pathway coefficients and correlated residual variance). As expected, stability pathways for zBMI, externalizing symptoms and food conflict were significant over time. Examination of cross-lagged paths revealed several significant pathways. T1 zBMI predicted higher food conflict at T2 (b = 0.65, p = .013) and T2 zBMI predicted higher food conflict at T3 (b = 0.72, p = .012) and higher externalizing symptoms at T2 predicted higher food conflict at T3 (b = .148, p = .02). However, T2 food conflict predicted lower externalizing symptoms at T3 (b = -0.37, p = 0.007). Figure 6 depicts significant pathways.

Table 3. Unstandardized value, standardized value, standard error of unstandardized value, and significance for all path coefficients and correlated residual variances for zBMI, externalizing symptoms and food specific family conflict.

	Path	n Coefficients			
Outcome	Predictor	b	SE	β	р
T2 zBMI	T1 zBMI	0.97	0.03	0.95	<.001***
	T1 Externalizing	-0.01	0.01	- 0.03	.428
	T1 Food Conflict	-0.01	0.01	-0.01	.870
T3 zBMI	T2 zBMI	0.32	0.14	0.31	.019*
	T1 zBMI	0.66	0.14	0.64	<.001***
	T2 Externalizing	0.01	0.01	0.03	.547
	T2 Food Conflict	-0.01	0.15	-0.04	.347
T2 Externalizing	T1 Externalizing	0.65	0.06	0.73	<.001***
	T1 zBMI	0.32	0.33	0.07	.334
	T1 Food Conflict	0.02	0.11	0.01	.844
T3 Externalizing	T2 Externalizing	0.82	0.08	0.74	<.001***
	T2 zBMI	0.58	0.37	0.11	.114
	T2 Food Conflict	-0.37	0.14	-0.20	.007
T2 Food Conflict	T1 Food Conflict	0.26	0.08	0.29	.002**
	T1 Externalizing	0.04	0.05	0.08	.416
	T1 zBMI	0.65	0.26	0.24	.013*
T3 Food Conflict	T2 Food Conflict	0.25	0.11	0.23	.021*
	T2 Externalizing	0.15	0.06	0.23	.020*
	T2 zBMI	0.72	0.29	0.24	.012*
	Correlatea	Residual Varia	nce		
Variable 1	Variable 2	Unstd.Value	SE	Std.Value	р
T1 Externalizing	T1 zBMI	0.23	0.58	0.04	.688
	T1 Food Conflict	3.77	1.80	0.21	.036*
T1 zBMI	T1 Food Conflict	0.36	0.33	0.11	.273
T3 Externalizing	T3 zBMI	-0.15	0.16	-0.11	.358
	T3 Food Conflict	2.06	1.06	0.21	$.052^{+}$
T3 zBMI 2	T3 Food Conflict	0.03	0.12	0.03	.811

Note: **p*<.05, ***p*<.01, ****p*<.001, ⁺*p*<.10

Figure 6. Standardized structural equation modeling results for the relations among zBMI, externalizing symptoms and food specific family conflict.



Note: Only significant pathways are depicted. Parameter estimates are standardized. *p<.05, **p<.01, ***p<.001.

Aim 3: zBMI, Internalizing Symptoms and General Family Conflict. Two models were conducted to test the aim that zBMI, internalizing symptoms and general family conflict would have cross-lagged associations over time (Aim 1). A model was run using child reported depressive symptoms, zBMI and general family conflict while accounting for age. Model fit was reasonably good for all measures of fit, where $\chi 2$ (18) = 27.43 p = .071; CFI = 0.980; TLI = 0.956; RMSEA = 0.07; SRMR = 0.06. Thus, pathways were examined (see Table 4 for all pathway coefficients and correlated residual variance). As predicted, stability paths among zBMI and child reported depressive symptoms across all three timepoints were significant. However, stability paths for general family conflict were not significant over time. There were no significant cross-lagged pathways. In the second model, model fit was poor when examining

zBMI, parent reported internalizing symptoms and general family conflict with $\chi^2(11) = 28.25$,

p = .003; CFI = 0.969; TLI = 0.908; RMSEA = 0.123; SRMR = 0.04. While CFI, SRMR and

TLI indicated good fit, $\chi 2$ and RMSEA indicated poor fit. No pathways were examined as model

fit did not reach sufficient level of acceptability.

Table 4. Unstandardized value, standardized value, standard error of unstandardized value, and significance for all path coefficients and correlated residual variances for zBMI, child reported depressive symptoms and general family conflict with controlling for age.

Path Coefficients									
Outcome	Predictor	b	SE	β	р				
T2 zBMI	T1 zBMI	0.97	0.04	0.95	<.001***				
	T1 CDI	0.01	0.01	0.03	.330				
	T1 Gen Fam Conflict	0.04	0.06	0.02	.537				
T3 zBMI	T2 zBMI	0.29	0.14	0.29	<.001***				
	T1 zBMI	0.66	0.14	0.66	.034				
	T2 CDI	0.01	0.01	0.05	.227				
	T2 Gen Fam Conflict	-0.00	0.07	-0.00	.986				
T2 CDI	T1 CDI	0.49	0.08	0.50	<.001***				
	T1 zBMI	0.60	0.44	0.12	.174				
	T1 Gen Fam Conflict	-1.01	0.79	-0.11	.203				
	T1 Age	-0.85	0.35	-0.21	.016*				
T3 CDI	T2 CDI	0.47	0.09	0.47	<.001***				
	T2 zBMI	-0.23	0.43	-0.05	.590				
	T2 Gen Fam Conflict	-0.64	0.79	-0.08	.381				
	T1 Age	-1.09	0.35	-0.27	.002**				
T2 Gen Fam Conflict	T1 Gen Fam Conflict	0.15	0.12	0.15	.180				
	T1 CDI	-0.01	0.01	-0.06	.547				
	T1 zBMI	-0.09	0.06	-0.15	.147				
T3 Gen Fam Conflict	T2 Gen Fam Conflict	0.09	0.11	0.09	.401				
	T2 CDI	0.01	0.01	0.05	.598				
	T2 zBMI	0.08	0.06	0.14	.194				
	Correlated Resi	dual Varia	nce						
Variable 1	Variable 2	Unstd.	SE	Std.Value	Р				
		Value							
T1 CDI	T1 zBMI	-0.06	0.55	-0.01	.917				
	T1 Gen Fam Conflict	-0.03	0.34	-0.01	.924				
T1 zBMI	T1 Gen Fam Conflict	0.08	0.06	0.13	.204				
T3 CDI	T3 zBMI	0.29	0.18	0.18	.108				
	T3 Gen Fam Conflict	-0.08	0.29	-0.03	.795				
T3 zBMI 2	T3 Gen Fam Conflict	-0.01	0.03	-0.03	.809				

Note: *p<.05, **p<.01, ***p<.001, +p<.10

Aim 4: zBMI, Externalizing Symptoms and General Family Conflict . To assess the interplay of zBMI, externalizing symptoms, and general family conflict (Aim 4), one cross-lagged model was conducted. The model fit was reasonably good: χ^2 (11) = 13.789, p = .245;

CFI = 0.995; TLI = 0.984; RMSEA = 0.049; SRMR = 0.033. Thus, pathways were examined (see Table 5 for all pathway coefficients and correlated residual variance). Stability paths for zBMI and externalizing symptoms were significant. However, stability paths for general family conflict were not significant. Examination of cross-lagged paths revealed a trend of T2 externalizing symptoms predicting T3 general family conflict (b = .024, p = .076) (see Figure 7). There were no significant cross-lagged pathways.

Figure 7. Standardized structural equation modeling results for the relations among zBMI, externalizing symptoms and general family conflict.



*p<.05, ***p<.001

Table 5. Unstandardized value, standardized value, standard error of unstandardized value, and significance for all path coefficients and correlated residual variances for zBMI, externalizing symptoms and general family conflict.

Path Coefficients									
Outcome	Predictor	b	SE	β	р				
T2 zBMI	T1 zBMI	0.97	0.04	0.95	<.001***				
	T1 Externalizing	-0.01	0.01	-0.03	.357				
	T1 Gen Fam Conflict	0.04	0.06	0.03	.496				
T3 zBMI	T2 zBMI	0.31	0.14	0.31	.027*				
	T1 zBMI	0.65	0.14	0.64	<.001***				
	T2 Externalizing	0.00	0.01	0.01	.763				
	T2 Gen Fam Conflict	-0.01	0.07	-0.00	.933				
T2 Externalizing	T1 Externalizing	0.65	0.06	0.73	<.001***				
	T1 zBMI	0.28	0.33	0.06	.400				
	T1 Gen Fam Conflict	0.39	0.57	0.05	.493				
T3 Externalizing	T2 Externalizing	0.76	0.08	0.71	<.001***				
	T2 zBMI	0.40	0.37	0.08	.277				
	T2 Gen Fam Conflict	0.38	0.62	0.05	.538				
T2 Gen Fam Conflict	T1 Gen Fam Conflict	0.15	0.12	0.15	.194				
	T1 Externalizing	-0.01	0.01	0.07	.503				
	T1 zBMI	-0.09	0.06	-0.15	.160				
T3 Gen Fam Conflict	T2 Gen Fam Conflict	0.07	0.11	0.07	.485				
	T2 Externalizing	0.02	0.01	0.18	.076+				
	T2 zBMI	0.08	0.06	0.13	.211				
	Correlated Resi	dual Varia	ince						
Variable 1	Variable 2	Unstd.	SE	Std.Value	р				
		Value							
T1 Externalizing	T1 zBMI	0.18	0.58	0.03	.751				
	T1 Gen Fam Conflict	0.19	0.36	0.06	.597				
T1 zBMI	T1 Gen Fam Conflict	0.08	0.06	0.13	.197				
T3 Externalizing	T3 zBMI	-0.10	0.16	-0.07	.558				
	T3 Gen Fam Conflict	0.47	0.24	0.20	$.055^{+}$				
T3 zBMI 2	T3 Gen Fam Conflict	-0.01	0.03	-0.03	.810				

Note: **p*<.05, ***p*<.01, ****p*<.001, ⁺*p*<.10

Aim 5. Equivalence Testing for Sex. For models with reasonably good fit, post-hoc multiple group invariance tests between males and females were conducted to assess differences in developmental trajectories. Thus, the model examining zBMI, externalizing symptoms and food specific family conflict was analyzed using equivalence testing to assess the impact of sex on model fit. When sex was held constant in the model, model fit did not significantly worsen $\Delta \chi$ ² (29) = 14.94, *p*= .985), indicating that model fit was equivalent for males and femlaes. Equivalence testing was also conducted with the model examining zBMI, child reported

depressive symptoms and general family conflict while controlling for age. When multiple group invariance tests were run on this model, the model did not significantly worsen when sex was held constant $(\Delta \chi^2 (18) = 23.40, p = .114)$, Finally, a multiple group invariance test between males and females was conducted on the model examining zBMI, externalizing symptoms and general family conflict. When sex was held constant in the model, model fit did not significantly worsen $(\Delta \chi^2 (30) = 40.55 p = .094)$, indicating that model fit was equivalent for males and females.

CHAPTER FIVE

DISCUSSION

This study aimed to examine the complex interplay among child weight, mental health symptoms and family conflict among Mexican-origin families with low-incomes. Previous research has established significant associations among all three of these factors (e.g., Camfferman et al., 2016; Garthus-Niegel et al., 2010; Halliday et al., 2014; Carter et al., 2010), but research had yet to examine all three factors in a single model across time. To examine this interplay, the present study used cross-lagged path analysis. Furthermore, sex differences in developmental trajectories were examined.

Externalizing Symptoms, Family Conflict and zBMI (Aim 2, Aim 4)

Of the panel models examined, only one demonstrated significant cross-lagged associations over time: externalizing symptoms, food specific family conflict and child zBMI. Higher zBMI at T1 predicted higher family conflict about eating three months later at T2, and higher zBMI at T2 predicted higher family conflict about eating three months later at T3. This finding is consistent with previous literature suggesting that weight management of youth can lead to increased family conflict regarding food choices and eating habits (e.g., Ramalho et al., 2016). This finding expands on previous literature in that it demonstrates how childhood weight management impacts the functioning of the family as a whole, even in a short time period. Furthermore, previous literature has focused on family conflict about eating among adolescents with overweight/obesity, where struggles for independence in decision making may play a large role in this conflict. However, this finding highlights the impact of weight on the family functioning of children in middle childhood. School-aged youth may begin to take increased independence around food, through making food choices at school and in other activities outside of the home. For children as young as 6, concerns regarding weight management may lead to greater family conflict. Within a first-generation Mexican American population, other factors such as cultural conflict around food choice might play a role in this interplay of zBMI on family conflict. For example, the acculturation gap between children and parents may impact conflict around eating and food choices. Research suggests that parents and youth have different rates of acculturation to the dominant culture, which can lead to conflict and stress among immigrant families (Hwang, 2006; Dondero & Van Hook, 2016). Typically, children of immigrants acculturate to the new dominant culture, such as cultural dietary practices, quicker than parents due to exposure to school, peers and the media (Hwang, 2006; Dondero & Van Hook, 2016). Research has found that acculturation to a dominant-culture American diet is associated with increased intake of fat and added sugar (Perez-Escamilla, 2011). Parents who are less acculturated to the dominant (U.S.) culture may show greater authoritarian feeding styles (Power, O'Connor, Fisher & Hughes, 2015). Thus, the increase of conflict related to higher zBMI may be in part influenced by stress associated with an acculturation gap in eating/feeding practices among parents and youth. Interestingly, family conflict around food did not predict later zBMI, suggesting that the conflict measured around eating is mainly driven by the child's weight status. That is, families with children with overweight or obesity may experience conflict around eating practices. Yet, in this sample, family food-related conflict did not predict later weight status. Importantly, this study was limited in its short time span (1 year), and zBMI was

relatively stable over the course of the year. Therefore, the limited study time frame may not have captured the longitudinal nature of this relationship. Thus, it is possible that in addition to the identified association between child zBMI and later family food conflict, a similar pattern between family food conflict and later child weight status may emerge over a longer time span.

Counter to study hypotheses, zBMI and externalizing symptoms were not associated over time in this cross-lagged panel model. zBMI and externalizing may have a relatively smaller association that develops over longer periods of development. Previous literature has found increased rates of externalizing problems among youth with overweight/obesity, and this finding was hypothesized to be related to differences in self-regulation that co-occur in obesity and externalizing disorders, such as ADHD (e.g., Golan & Bachner-Melman, 2011; Datar & Chung, 2018). However, in the present study which examined the short-term interplay of weight and externalizing symptoms, family conflict around eating appeared to be the more salient effect of elevated zBMI. As such, research focusing on the impact of externalizing concerns on childhood weight management may benefit from examining the possible intermediary effects of family conflict over time.

Although zBMI was not directly associated with externalizing symptoms over time, a more complex picture emerged about the association among food-specific family conflict and externalizing symptoms over time: higher externalizing symptoms at T2 predicted higher food specific family conflict at T3, however, higher food specific family conflict at T2 predicted lower externalizing symptoms at T3. This finding partially supports the hypothesis that externalizing symptoms would lead to increased family conflict, specifically related to eating. However, conflict around food may not in and of itself lead to increased behavioral problems.

While this finding is in contrast with previous literature indicating positive bidirectional associations over time between family conflict and externalizing symptoms (e.g., Burt et al., 2005), this study examined the impact of family conflict specifically related to eating, which as a construct may be separate from general family conflict. In fact, in bivariate correlations, food specific family conflict and general family conflict were not significantly associated. Additionally, externalizing symptoms in this sample were on average low, with only 7% of the sample meeting the clinical cutoff at T1. In families with youth with relatively low levels of behavioral concerns, conflict around the topic of eating may lead to fewer externalizing symptoms later on, since reported conflict may in fact represent an increase in parental management and rule setting around food. In the short term, increased family level conflict around eating may be associated with increased externalizing symptoms, however, conflict around eating practices within the family may be due to increased parental supervision and thus fewer externalizing symptoms later on. Furthermore, this unexpected finding may be due to culturally-specific family processes at play in this population: some past research has shown that hierarchical parenting styles, or use of clear parental authority, reduces externalizing symptoms among Latinx families but not non-Latinx white families (Holtrop, Smith, & Scott, 2015). It has been hypothesized that the cultural value of *respeto*, or respect for parental authority, is an important protective factor for externalizing symptoms among Latinx groups (Holtrop et al., 2015). Children in families in which there is high value placed on parental authority may seek to avoid increased conflict and thus demonstrate a reduction in externalizing symptoms in the short term. Increased food specific family conflict may represent an increase of culturally normative

parental authority over children's eating habits, which in turn may reduce externalizing symptoms among this population.

Counter to the study's hypotheses, there were no significant cross-lagged associations across time for youth's externalizing symptoms, zBMI and general family conflict. Although there was a trend of T2 externalizing symptoms predicting higher T3 general family conflict, this finding did not reach statistical significance. Thus, although findings supported the complex interplay of externalizing symptoms, zBMI and family reported conflict surrounding food and eating, this study did not find evidence to support these associations for general family conflict as observed during a video-taped interaction. Despite the lack of cross-lagged associations among these three variables across time when all variables are included in the model, bivariate associations revealed significant positive associations between T2 externalizing symptoms and T3 general family conflict as well as T3 externalizing symptoms and general family conflict. As such, general, observable family conflict, may be associated with externalizing symptoms broadly, whereas food specific family conflict may independently contribute to the development of externalizing symptoms overtime within the context of childhood overweight and obesity.

Internalizing Symptoms, Family Conflict and zBMI (Aim 1, Aim 3)

Model fit was inadequate to interpret pathways for the models examining the crosslagged associations among internalizing symptoms (both child reported and parent reported), food specific family conflict and zBMI. Thus, this study does not provide support for the hypothesis that internalizing symptoms, food specific family conflict and zBMI would have positive, cross-lagged associations over time. However, analyses revealed positive bivariate associations among food specific family conflict and both parent and child reported internalizing symptoms at multiple timepoints. Furthermore, as discussed above, there were bivariate correlations among zBMI and food specific family conflict across multiple timepoints. Bivariate correlations did not reveal any significant associations among zBMI and internalizing symptoms at any timepoints. Finally, there was no evidence to suggest a cross-lagged association among general family conflict, internalizing symptoms and zBMI for both parent and child reported internalizing symptoms. A model with parent reported internalizing symptoms, general family conflict and zBMI also did not reach adequate fit. For child reported symptoms, the model had adequate fit, however, there were no significant cross-lagged paths. Bivariate correlations revealed significant associations among T3 general family conflict and internalizing symptoms at all three time points. However, internalizing symptoms were not associated with general family conflict at T1 or T2. Furthermore, zBMI was not correlated with internalizing symptoms or general family conflict. Taken together, these findings suggest that although internalizing symptoms may be associated with both general and food related family conflict, they do not directly impact zBMI within this short time frame. Additionally, internalizing symptoms may be less salient in the context of weight management for school-aged children. Research has found that internalizing symptoms increase significantly between ages 12 and 17, whereas rates of externalizing symptoms are highest between the ages of 6 and 11 (Ghandour et al., 2019). Thus, the interplay of zBMI, family conflict and mental health symptoms for school-aged youth may be reflected in externalizing, rather than internalizing symptoms during this developmental period.

Sex Differences (Aim 5)

The final aim of this study was to explore the differences between males and females in the associations among zBMI, mental health and family conflict. This study hypothesized that developmental trajectories would vary based on children's sex, specifically that there would be stronger fit for females than males. However, equivalence testing of models did not reveal any significant differences between males and females in developmental trajectories. It is possible that sex differences do not emerge in middle childhood; rather, these differences may emerge as children enter adolescence when sex differences in mental health problems, such as internalizing symptoms, increases (Ghandour et al., 2019). However, given the small sample size and the number of parameters estimated in these models, there is not sufficient evidence to indicate that no such sex difference exists. Previous literature suggests that the associations between weight status and mental health symptoms may vary based on sex (e.g., Lawlor et al., 2005). However, other literature has not found this moderating effect (e.g., Camfferman et al., 2016; De Wit et al., 2010; Bradley et al., 2008). There have been similarly mixed findings with the moderating effect of sex on the associations among mental health and family conflict (e.g., Smojver-Ažić et al., 2005; Formoso, Gonzales, & Aiken, 2000). Future research with sufficient sample sizes is needed to better understand how family processes, such as conflict, impact these associations over time.

Implications

The present study has several important implications for intervention with youth and families. Conflict about food choice and eating may be an important area of intervention for school-age youth with overweight or obesity. For Mexican-origin youth, family functioning

around meals may be particularly important as an intervention target, as family is recognized as a central source of support in this population (e.g., Sabogal et al. 1987; Smith-Morris et al. 2013). Although many interventions for pediatric obesity include parental involvement, such as providing education on strategies to support children in dietary changes and physical activity, meta-analyses have shown that these family-centered programs' have effect sizes that range from small to medium (Janicke et al., 2014). Results from the present study underscore that broader family functioning, such as conflict around eating, may be an important additional target of family-based interventions. Indeed, researchers have argued that broader family context may moderate treatment outcomes (Fiese, Hammons, & Gigsby-Toussaint, 2012; Kitzmann, Dalton, & Buscemi, 2008). As such, family-based interventions may benefit from not only focusing on supporting parents and children in behavioral strategies for improving healthy eating and exercise habits, but also through focusing on the overall level of family conflict related to eating within the home. Furthermore, the present study highlights the impact of family conflict around food on children's mental health. Externalizing problems were found to have a dynamic relation with family conflict around food, and culturally specific factors, like deference for parental authority among Mexican-origin populations, may impact how conflict and externalizing symptoms relate to one another over time. This finding underscores the need for screening for mental health symptoms when addressing pediatric obesity, even for youth as young as 6 to 10 years old. Furthermore, it highlights the importance of using a culturally-sensitive lens when working on family functioning with youth from diverse backgrounds.

Strengths and Limitations

There were several strengths of the present study. First, this study utilized a longitudinal design, which provided the ability to examine the dynamic process of development among an atrisk population across time. Furthermore, the study examined youth during an important developmental time period, school-age, in which greater independence around eating and food choices begins to place children at risk for obesity (Fryar et al., 2019). This time period precedes adolescence, in which a dramatic increase in mental health symptoms appears (Ghandour et al., 2019). Thus, examining youth and their interactions with their parents during this period may provide important insight into dynamics that may predispose or impact youth later on in development. Additionally, constructs in this study were examined using multiple forms of measurement, including multiple informants (parents and children) and well as the use of observational and anthropomorphic data. Finally, this study uses a community sample of youth who are at increased risk for obesity and mental health concerns due to factors of poverty and systemic xenophobia toward Mexican-origin individuals with low incomes in the U.S. (Yoshikawa et al., 2017). By examining family systems within the context of poverty, discrimination and chronic stress, research may gain greater insights into the processes in which youth incur risk for both physical and mental health concerns.

While this study adds to the literature on the impact of mental health, family conflict and BMI, there are several limitations to the present study. Sample size was one major limitation to this study. To examine cross-lagged paths, the study fell just below the acceptable number of observations to parameters examined for SEM (Bentler & Chou, 1987). Thus, the present study had low power to detect small effect sizes. Next, the present study was conducted over a

relatively short time span: one year. As such, given the small sample size and short time span, the present study may not have had the sufficient power to detect a small effect size that might occur during such a short time span. Furthermore, zBMI was examined, which has been identified as an appropriate measurement of adiposity for youth in previous research (e.g. Kakinami et al., 2014). However, additional measurements of overweight/obesity, such as waist circumference and DEXA-derived adiposity would provide additional evidence to understand this dynamic interplay (Kakinami et al., 2014). Also, although sex and age were accounted for in models, pubertal timing, which may affect BMI as well as mental health symptoms, was not measured in this sample. Finally, this sample of Mexican-origin families with low incomes from an urban environment may not generalize to other populations. This sample had relatively low reports of externalizing symptoms, which also may not make it representative of other populations.

Future Directions

Future research should aim to further understand this complex interplay among youth's BMI and mental health with family functioning. Firstly, future research would benefit from larger sample sizes to improve power to detect small effects over shorter time spans, which was limited in the present study. Specifically, larger sample sizes would allow for more nuanced observations of difference among males and females in regards to developmental trajectories. Research would also benefit from examining additional timepoints to better understand how this interplay develops and changes over early adolescence, as the interplay of internalizing symptoms, family conflict and BMI may be more salient for adolescents. Finally, studies on culturally-specific factors, such as *respeto* or acculturative gaps would add to a more complete understanding on how family functioning for Mexican-origin youth impacts mental health and weight management over time.

REFERENCE LIST

- Achenbach, T. M., & Rescorla, L. A. (2001). Manual for the Achenbach system of empirically based assessment school-age forms profiles. Burlington, VT: Aseba.
- Aguirre-Castaneda, R. L., Kumar, S., Voigt, R. G., Leibson, C. L., Barbaresi, W. J., Weaver, A. L., ... & Katusic, S. K. (2016, March). Childhood attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder, sex, and obesity: a longitudinal population-based study. In Mayo Clinic Proceedings (Vol. 91, No. 3, pp. 352-361). Elsevier.
- Atlantis, E., & Baker, M. (2008). Obesity effects on depression: systematic review of epidemiological studies. *International Journal of Obesity*, 32(6), 881-891.
- Awang, Z. (2015). SEM made simple: A gentle approach to learning Structural Equation Modeling. MPWS Rich Publication.
- Barajas-Gonzalez, R. G., Ayón, C., & Torres, F. (2018). Applying a community violence framework to understand the impact of immigration enforcement threat on Latino children. *Social Policy Report*, *31*(3), 1-24.
- Bates, C. R., Buscemi, J., Nicholson, L. M., Cory, M., Jagpal, A., & Bohnert, A. M. (2018). Links between the organization of the family home environment and child obesity: a systematic review. *Obesity Reviews*, 19(5), 716-727.
- Bentler, P. M., & Chou, C. P. (1987). Practical issues in structural modeling. Sociological Methods & Research, 16(1), 78-117.
- Berge, J. M., Rowley, S., Trofholz, A., Hanson, C., Rueter, M., MacLehose, R. F., & Neumark-Sztainer, D. (2014). Childhood obesity and interpersonal dynamics during family meals. *Pediatrics*, 134(5), 923-932. doi: https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2014-1936
- Biro, F. M., & Wien, M. (2010). Childhood obesity and adult morbidities. *The American Journal* of Clinical Nutrition, 91(5), 14998-1505S.
- Bohnert, A. M., Loren, D. M., & Miller, A. L. (2020). Examining childhood obesity through the lens of developmental psychopathology: Framing the issues to guide best practices in research and intervention. *American Psychologist*, *75*(2), 163-177.

- Boutelle, K. N., Birnbaum, A. S., Lytle, L. A., Murray, D. M., & Story, M. (2003). Associations between perceived family meal environment and parent intake of fruit, vegetables, and fat. *Journal of Nutrition Education and Behavior*, *35*(1), 24-29.
- Bradley, R. H., Houts, R., Nader, P. R., O'brien, M., Belsky, J., & Crosnoe, R. (2008). The relationship between body mass index and behavior in children. *The Journal of Pediatrics*, 153(5), e594-601. doi: 10.1542/peds.2005-2801.
- Bronfenbrenner, U. (1979). The ecology of human development: Harvard university press.
- Browne, M. W., & Cudeck, R. (1992). Alternative ways of assessing model fit. *Sociological Methods & Research, 21*(2), 230-258.
- Burnier, D., Dubois, L., & Girard, M. (2011). Arguments at mealtime and child energy intake. *Journal of Nutrition Education and Behavior*, 43(6), 473-481.
- Burt, S. A., McGue, M., Krueger, R. F., & Iacono, W. G. (2005). How are parent–child conflict and childhood externalizing symptoms related over time? Results from a genetically informative cross-lagged study. *Development and Psychopathology*, *17*(1), 145-165.
- Camfferman, R., Jansen, P. W., Rippe, R. C., Mesman, J., Derks, I. P., Tiemeier, H., . . . van der Veek, S. M. (2016). The association between overweight and internalizing and externalizing behavior in early childhood. *Social Science & Medicine*, 168, 35-42.
- Caples, H. S., & Barrera, M. (2006). Conflict, support and coping as mediators of the relation between degrading parenting and adolescent adjustment. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, *35*(4), 599-611.
- Carter, A. S., Wagmiller, R. J., Gray, S. A., McCarthy, K. J., Horwitz, S. M., & Briggs-Gowan, M. J. (2010). Prevalence of DSM-IV disorder in a representative, healthy birth cohort at school entry: sociodemographic risks and social adaptation. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 49(7), 686-698.
- Castaneda, R. L. A., Kumar, S., Voigt, R. G., Leibson, C. L., Barbaresi, W. J., Weaver, A. L., ... & Katusic, S. K. (2016). Childhood attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder, sex, and obesity: a longitudinal population-based study. In Mayo Clinic Proceedings (Vol. 91, No. 3, pp. 352-361). Elsevier.
- Center for American Progress Immigration Team. (2014, October 23). The Facts on Immigration Today. Retrieved from: https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/immigration/report/2014/10/23/59040/t hefacts-on-immigration-today-3/

- Cicchetti, D. V. (1994). Guidelines, criteria, and rules of thumb for evaluating normed and standardized assessment instruments in psychology. *Psychological Assessment*, 6(4), 284–290. https://doi.org/10.1037/1040-3590.6.4.284.
- Chan, K. L., Lee, C. S., Cheng, C. M., Hui, L. Y., So, W. T., Yu, T. S., & Lin, C. Y. (2019). Investigating the relationship between weight-related self-stigma and mental health for overweight/obese children in Hong Kong. *The Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease*, 207(8), 637-641.
- Cheung, G. W., & Rensvold, R. B. (2002). Evaluating goodness-of-fit indexes for testing measurement invariance. *Structural Equation Modeling*, 9(2), 233-255.
- Conger, R. D., Conger, K. J., Matthews, L. S., & Elder Jr, G. H. (1999). Pathways of economic influence on adolescent adjustment. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 27(4), 519-541.
- Conger, R. D., Wallace, L. E., Sun, Y., Simons, R. L., McLoyd, V. C., & Brody, G. H. (2002). Economic pressure in African American families: a replication and extension of the family stress model. *Developmental Psychology*, 38(2), 179–193. doi: https://doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649.38.2.179
- Datar, A., & Chung, P. J. (2018). Childhood self-control and adolescent obesity: evidence from longitudinal data on a national cohort. *Childhood Obesity*, 14(4), 238-247.
- Davison, K. K., Jurkowski, J. M., & Lawson, H. A. (2013). Reframing family-centred obesity prevention using the Family Ecological Model. *Public Health Nutrition*, 16(10), 1861-1869.
- De Wit, L., Luppino, F., van Straten, A., Penninx, B., Zitman, F., & Cuijpers, P. (2010). Depression and obesity: a meta-analysis of community-based studies. *Psychiatry Research*, 178(2), 230-235.
- Dondero, M., & Van Hook, J. (2016). Generational status, neighborhood context, and motherchild resemblance in dietary quality in Mexican-origin families. *Social Science & Medicine*, *150*, 212-220.
- Dumka, L. E., Roosa, M. W., & Jackson, K. M. (1997). Risk, conflict, mothers' parenting, and children's adjustment in low-income, Mexican immigrant, and Mexican American families. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, 309-323.

- Fanti, K. A., Henrich, C. C., Brookmeyer, K. A., & Kuperminc, G. P. (2008). Toward a transactional model of parent-adolescent relationship quality and adolescent psychological adjustment. *The Journal of Early Adolescence*, 28(2), 252-276.
- Fiese, B. H., & Bost, K. K. (2016). Family ecologies and child risk for obesity: Focus on regulatory processes. *Family Relations*, 65(1), 94-107.
- Fiese, B. H., Everhart, R. S., & Wildenger, L. (2009). Wheezing, sleeping, and worrying: The hidden risks of asthma and obesity in school-age children. *Psychology in the Schools*, 46(8), 728-738.
- Fiese, B. H., Hammons, A., & Grigsby-Toussaint, D. (2012). Family mealtimes: A contextual approach to understanding childhood obesity. *Economics & Human Biology*, 10(4), 365-374.
- Fiese, B. H., & Jones, B. L. (2012). Food and family: A socio-ecological perspective for child development. In Advances in Child Development and Behavior (Vol. 42, pp. 307-337). JAI.
- Fiese, B. H., & Sameroff, A. J. (1989). Family context in pediatric psychology: A transactional perspective. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, 14(2), 293-314.
- Formoso, D., Gonzales, N. A., & Aiken, L. S. (2000). Family conflict and children's internalizing and externalizing behavior: Protective factors. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 28(2), 175-199.
- Foster, S. L., & Robin, A. L. (1989). Parent-adolescent conflict. In E. J. Mash & R. A. Barkley (Eds.), Treatment of childhood disorders (pp. 493-528). New York, NY, US: Guilford Press.
- Fryar, C. D., Carroll, M. D., & Ogden, C. L. (2018). Prevalence of overweight, obesity, and severe obesity among children and adolescents aged 2–19 years: United States, 1963– 1965 through 2015–2016 (cdc:58669). https://stacks.cdc.gov/view/cdc/58669
- Ghandour, R. M., Sherman, L. J., Vladutiu, C. J., Ali, M. M., Lynch, S. E., Bitsko, R. H., & Blumberg, S. J. (2019). Prevalence and treatment of depression, anxiety, and conduct problems in US children. *The Journal of Pediatrics*, 206, 256-267.
- Garthus-Niegel, S., Hagtvet, K. A., & Vollrath, M. E. (2010). A prospective study of weight development and behavior problems in toddlers: The Norwegian Mother and Child Cohort Study. BMC Public Health, 10(1), 626. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-10-626

- Gibson, L. Y., Byrne, S. M., Davis, E. A., Blair, E., Jacoby, P., & Zubrick, S. R. (2007). The role of family and maternal factors in childhood obesity. *Medical Journal of Australia*, 186(11), 591-595.
- Golan, M., & Bachner-Melman, R. (2011). Self-regulation and the management of childhood obesity. *Journal of Community Medicine & Health Education*, 1(2).
- Gonzales, N. A., Deardorff, J., Formoso, D., Barr, A., & Barrera Jr, M. (2006). Family mediators of the relation between acculturation and adolescent mental health. *Family Relations*, 55(3), 318-330.
- Grych, J. H., & Fincham, F. D. (1990). Marital conflict and children's adjustment: A cognitivecontextual framework. *Psychological Bulletin*, 108(2), 267-290
- Halliday, J. A., Palma, C. L., Mellor, D., Green, J., & Renzaho, A. (2014). The relationship between family functioning and child and adolescent overweight and obesity: a systematic review. *International Journal of Obesity*, 38(4), 480-493.
- Hammons, A. J., & Fiese, B. H. (2011). Is frequency of shared family meals related to the nutritional health of children and adolescents? *Pediatrics*, *127*(6), e1565-e1574.
- Hanson, C. L., Klesges, R. C., Eck, L. H., Cigrang, J. A., & Carle, D. L. (1990). Family relations, coping styles, stress, and cardiovascular disease risk factors among children and their parents. *Family Systems Medicine*, 8(4), 387-400.
- Hayes, A. F., Montoya, A. K., & Rockwood, N. J. (2017). The analysis of mechanisms and their contingencies: PROCESS versus structural equation modeling. *Australasian Marketing Journal* (AMJ), 25(1), 76-81.
- Herzer, M., Godiwala, N., Hommel, K. A., Driscoll, K., Mitchell, M., Crosby, L. E., . . . Modi, A. C. (2010). Family functioning in the context of pediatric chronic conditions. *Journal* of developmental and behavioral pediatrics: JDBP, 31(1), 26-34.
- Hollingshead, A. B. (1975). Four factor index of social status.
- Holmbeck, G., Zebracki, K., Johnson, S., Belvedere, M., & Hommeyer, J. (2007). Parent-child interaction macro-coding manual. *Unpublished coding system, Chicago: Loyola University Chicago*.
- Holtrop, K., McNeil Smith, S., & Scott, J. C. (2015). Associations between positive parenting practices and child externalizing behavior in underserved Latino immigrant families. *Family Process*, 54(2), 359-375.

- Hooper, L. M., Burnham, J. J., & Richey, R. (2009). Select parent and family system correlates of adolescent current weight status: A pilot study. *The Family Journal*, 17(1), 14-21.
- Hu, L. T., & Bentler, P. M. (1999). Cutoff criteria for fit indexes in covariance structure analysis: Conventional criteria versus new alternatives. *Structural Equation Modeling: A Multidisciplinary Journal, 6*(1), 1-55.
- Huh, D., Stice, E., Shaw, H., & Boutelle, K. (2012). Female overweight and obesity in adolescence: Developmental trends and ethnic differences in prevalence, incidence, and remission. Journal of youth and adolescence, 41(1), 76-85.
- Huang, C. (2017). Cross-informant agreement on the Child Behavior Checklist for Youths: A meta-analysis. Psychological Reports, 120(6), 1096–1116. https://doi.org/10.1177/00332 94117 71773 3.
- Hwang, W. (2006). Acculturative family distancing: Theory, research, and clinical practice. *Psychotherapy: Theory, Research, Practice, Training*, 43, 397-409.
- Janicke, D. M., Steele, R. G., Gayes, L. A., Lim, C. S., Clifford, L. M., Schneider, E. M., ... & Westen, S. (2014). Systematic review and meta-analysis of comprehensive behavioral family lifestyle interventions addressing pediatric obesity. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, 39(8), 809-825.
- Jaycox, L. H., & Repetti, R. L. (1993). Conflict in families and the psychological adjustment of preadolescent children. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 7(3), 344-355.
- Jouriles, E. N., Farris, A. M., & McDonald, R. (1991). Marital functioning and child behavior: Measuring specific aspects of the marital relationship. *Advances in Family Intervention*, *Assessment and Theory*, 5, 25-46.
- Kakinami, L., Henderson, M., Chiolero, A., Cole, T. J., & Paradis, G. (2014). Identifying the best body mass index metric to assess adiposity change in children. *Archives of Disease in Childhood*, *99*(11), 1020-1024.
- Kalarchian, M. A., & Marcus, M. D. (2012). Psychiatric comorbidity of childhood obesity. *International Review of Psychiatry*, 24(3), 241-246.
- Kaugars, A., Zebracki, K., Kichler, J. C., Fitzgerald, C. J., Greenley, R., Alemzadeh, R., & Holmbeck, G. N. (2010). Use of the family interaction macro-coding system with families of adolescents: Psychometric properties among pediatric and healthy populations. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, 36(5), 539-551.

Kenny, D. A. (2020). Measuring model fit. Retrieved from http://davidakenny.net/ cm/fit.htm

- Kitzmann, K. M., Dalton III, W. T., & Buscemi, J. (2008). Beyond parenting practices: Family context and the treatment of pediatric obesity. *Family Relations*, 57(1), 13-23.
- Kline, R. B. (2015). *Principles and practice of structural equation modeling*: Guilford publications.
- Kovacs, M. (1992). *The Children's Depression Inventory*. North Towanda, NY: MultiHealth Systems, Inc.
- Kuczmarski, R. J., Ogden, C. L., Guo, S. S., Grummer-Strawn, L. M., Flegal, K. M., Mei, Z., ... & Johnson, C. L. (2002). 2000 CDC Growth Charts for the United States: methods and development. *Vital and health statistics. Series 11, Data from the national health survey*, 246, 1-190.
- Langley, A. K., Gonzalez, A., Sugar, C. A., Solis, D., & Jaycox, L. (2015). Bounce back: effectiveness of an elementary school based intervention for multicultural children exposed to traumatic events. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 83(5), 853– 865. https://doi.org/10.1037/ccp0000051.
- Lawlor, D. A., Mamun, A. A., O'Callaghan, M. J., Bor, W., Williams, G. M., & Najman, J. M. (2005). Is being overweight associated with behavioural problems in childhood and adolescence? Findings from the Mater-University study of pregnancy and its outcomes. *Archives of Disease in Childhood*, 90(7), 692-697.
- Lindahl, K. M. (2000). Methodological issues in family observational research. In Family observational coding systems (pp. 39-48). Psychology Press.
- MacCallum, R. C., Browne, M. W., & Sugawara, H. M. (1996). Power analysis and determination of sample size for covariance structure modeling. *Psychological Methods*, *1*(2), 130.
- Marks, A. K., Ejesi, K., & Coll, C. G. (2014). Understanding the US immigrant paradox in childhood and adolescence. *Child Development Perspectives*, 8(2), 59-64.
- Martin-Biggers, J., Quick, V., Zhang, M., Jin, Y., & Byrd-Bredbenner, C. (2018). Relationships of family conflict, cohesion, and chaos in the home environment on maternal and child food-related behaviours. *Maternal & Child Nutrition*, 14(2), e12540.

- Mason, C. A., Cauce, A. M., Gonzales, N., Hiraga, Y., & Grove, K. (1994). An ecological model of externalizing behaviors in African-American adolescents: No family is an island. *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, *4*(4), 639-655.
- McLaughlin, K. A., Hilt, L. M., & Nolen-Hoeksema, S. (2007). Racial/ethnic differences in internalizing and externalizing symptoms in adolescents. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 35(5), 801-816.
- Mead, E., Brown, T., Rees, K., Azevedo, L., Whittaker, V., Jones, D., Olajide, J., Mainardi, G., Corpeleijn, E., O'Malley, C., & et al. (2017). Diet, physical activity and behavioural interventions for the treatment of overweight or obese children from the age of 6 to 11 years. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews, 6. https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD012651
- Miller, A. L., Horodynski, M. A., Herb, H. E. B., Peterson, K. E., Contreras, D., Kaciroti, N., ... & Lumeng, J. C. (2012). Enhancing self-regulation as a strategy for obesity prevention in Head Start preschoolers: the growing healthy study. *BMC Public Health*, 12(1), 1040.
- Miller, A. L., Rosenblum, K. L., Retzloff, L. B., & Lumeng, J. C. (2016). Observed selfregulation is associated with weight in low-income toddlers. *Appetite*, 105, 705-712.
- Muthén, L. K., & Muthen, B. (2017). *Mplus user's guide: Statistical analysis with latent variables, user's guide*. Muthén & Muthén.
- Nederkoorn, C., Braet, C., Van Eijs, Y., Tanghe, A., & Jansen, A. (2006). Why obese children cannot resist food: the role of impulsivity. *Eating Behaviors*, 7(4), 315-322.
- Neece, C. L., Green, S. A., & Baker, B. L. (2012). Parenting stress and child behavior problems: A transactional relationship across time. *American Journal on Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities*, 117(1), 48-66.
- Ogden, C. L., Fryar, C. D., Martin, C. B., Freedman, D. S., Carroll, M. D., Gu, Q., & Hales, C. M. (2020). Trends in obesity prevalence by race and hispanic origin—1999-2000 to 2017-2018. Jama, 324(12), 1208-1210.
- Pardini, D. A. (2008). Novel insights into longstanding theories of bidirectional parent-child influences: Introduction to the special section. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 36(5), 627-631.
- Park, M., Zong, J., & Batalova, J. (2018). *Growing superdiversity among young US dual language learners and its implications*: Migration Policy Institute Washington, DC.

- Penedo, F. J., Brintz, C. E., LLabre, M. M., Arguelles, W., Isasi, C. R., Arredondo, E. M., . . . Rodriguez, C. J. (2015). Family environment and the metabolic syndrome: Results from the Hispanic community health study/study of Latinos (HCHS/SOL) sociocultural ancillary study (SCAS). *Annals of Behavioral Medicine*, 49(6), 793-801.
- Perez-Escamilla, R. (2011). Acculturation, nutrition, and health inequities in Latinos. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 93(5), 1163S-1167S.
- Peters, C. L. O., & Enders, C. (2002). A primer for the estimation of structural equation models in the presence of missing data: Maximum likelihood algorithms. *Journal of Targeting, Measurement and Analysis for Marketing*, 11(1), 81-95.
- Portes, P. R., & Zady, M. F. (2002). Self-esteem in the adaptation of Spanish-speaking adolescents: The role of immigration, family conflict, and depression. *Hispanic Journal of Behavioral Sciences*, 24(3), 296-318.
- Power, T. G., O'Connor, T. M., Orlet Fisher, J., & Hughes, S. O. (2015). Obesity risk in children: the role of acculturation in the feeding practices and styles of low-income Hispanic families. *Childhood Obesity*, 11(6), 715-721.
- Power, T. G., Olivera, Y. A., Hill, R. A., Beck, A. D., Hopwood, V., Garcia, K. S., ... & Hughes, S. O. (2016). Emotion regulation strategies and childhood obesity in high risk preschoolers. Appetite, 107, 623-627.
- Preacher, K. J., & Coffman, D. L. (2006, May). Computing power and minimum sample size for RMSEA [Computer software]. Available from http://quantpsy.org/.
- Prinz, R.J., Foster, S., Kent, R.N., & O'Leary, D. (1979). Multivariate assessment of conflict in distressed and nondistressed mother-adolescent dyads. *Journal of Applied Behavior Analysis*, 2, 691-700.
- Puder, J. J., & Munsch, S. (2010). Psychological correlates of childhood obesity. *International Journal of Obesity*, 34(2), S37-S43.
- Ramalho, J. d. A. M., Lachal, J., Bucher-Maluschke, J. S. N. F., Moro, M.-R., & Revah-Levy, A. (2016). A qualitative study of the role of food in family relationships: An insight into the families of Brazilian obese adolescents using photo elicitation. *Appetite*, *96*, 539-545.
- Reid, W. J., & Crisafulli, A. (1990). Marital discord and child behavior problems: A metaanalysis. Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology, 18(1), 105-117.

- Roosa, M. W., Deng, S., Ryu, E., Lockhart Burrell, G., Tein, J. Y., Jones, S., . . . Crowder, S. (2005). Family and child characteristics linking neighborhood context and child externalizing behavior. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 67(2), 515-529.
- Sabogal, F., Marín, G., Otero-Sabogal, R., & Marín, B. V. (1987). Hispanic familism and acculturation: what changes and what doesn't? *Hispanic Journal of Behavioral Sciences*, 9(4), 397–412. https://doi.org/10.1177/07399863870094003
- Santiago, C. D., & Wadsworth, M. E. (2009). Coping with family conflict: What's helpful and what's not for low-income adolescents. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, 18(2), 192-202.
- Selig, J. P., & Little, T. D. (2012). Autoregressive and cross-lagged panel analysis for longitudinal data. In B. Laursen, T. D. Little, & N. A. Card (Eds.), Handbook of developmental research methods (pp. 265-278). New York, NY, US: The Guilford Press.
- Skouteris, H., McCabe, M., Ricciardelli, L. A., Milgrom, J., Baur, L. A., Aksan, N., & Dell'Aquila, D. (2012). Parent–child interactions and obesity prevention: a systematic review of the literature. *Early Child Development and Care*, 182(2), 153-174.
- Slack, T., & Jensen, L. (2007). Underemployment across immigrant generations. Social Science Research, 36(4), 1415-1430.
- Smetana, J. G., Yau, J., & Hanson, S. (1991). Conflict resolution in families with adolescents. *Journal of Research on Adolescence, 1*(2), 189-206.
- Smith-Morris, C., Morales-Campos, D., Alvarez, E. A. C., & Turner, M. (2013). An anthropology of familismo: on narratives and description of Mexican/immigrants. *Hispanic Journal of Behavioral Sciences*, 35(1), 35–60. https://doi.org/10.1177/0739986312459508.
- Smojver-Ažić, S., & Bezinović, P. (2011). Sex differences in patterns of relations between family interactions and depressive symptoms in adolescents. *Croatian Medical Journal*, 52(4), 469-477.
- Stokols, D., Allen, J., & Bellingham, R. L. (1996). The social ecology of health promotion: implications for research and practice. *American Journal of Health Promotion*, 10(4), 247-251.
- Stradmeijer, M., Bosch, J., Koops, W., & Seidell, J. (2000). Family functioning and psychosocial adjustment in overweight youngsters. *International Journal of Eating Disorders*, 27(1), 110-114.

- Tannenbaum, C., Clow, B., Haworth-Brockman, M., & Voss, P. (2017). Sex and sex considerations in Canadian clinical practice guidelines: a systematic review. *CMAJ open*, 5(1), E66-E73.
- Thill, A. D. W., Holmbeck, G. N., Bryant, F. B., Nelson, C., Skocic, A., & Uli, N. (2003). Assessing the factorial invariance of Harter's self-concept measures: Comparing preadolescents with and without spina bifida using child, parent, and teacher report. *Journal of Personality Assessment*, 81(2), 111-122.
- Van Hook, J., & Baker, E. (2010). Big boys and little girls: sex, acculturation, and weight among young children of immigrants. Journal of Health and Social Behavior, 51(2), 200-214.
- Viikinsalo, M.K., Crawford, D.M., Kimbrel, H., Long, A.E., & Dashiff, C. (2005). Conflicts Between Young Adolescents With Type I Diabetes and Their Parents. *Journal for Specialists in Pediatric Nursing*, 10, 69-81.
- Voydanoff, P., & Donnelly, B. W. (1988). Economic distress, family coping, and quality of family life. In P. Voydanoff & L. C. Majka (Eds.), New perspectives on family. Families and economic distress: Coping strategies and social policy (pp. 97-115). Thousand Oaks, CA, US: Sage Publications, Inc.
- Wang, F., Wild, T., Kipp, W., Kuhle, S., & Veugelers, P. (2009). The influence of childhood obesity on the development of self-esteem. *Health Reports*, 20(2), 21-27.
- Waring, M. E., & Lapane, K. L. (2008). Overweight in children and adolescents in relation to attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder: results from a national sample. *Pediatrics*, 122(1), e1-e6.
- White, B., Nicholls, D., Christie, D., Cole, T. J., & Viner, R. M. (2012). Childhood psychological function and obesity risk across the lifecourse: findings from the 1970 British Cohort Study. *International Journal of Obesity*, 36(4), 511-516.

Whitley, B. E., & Kite, M. E. (2013). Principles of research in behavioral science. Routledge.

Yoshikawa, H., Suárez-Orozco, C., & Gonzales, R. G. (2017). Unauthorized status and youth development in the United States: Consensus statement of the society for research on adolescence. *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, 27(1), 4-19.

- Zeller, M. H., Reiter-Purtill, J., Modi, A. C., Gutzwiller, J., Vannatta, K., & Davies, W. H. (2007). Controlled study of critical parent and family factors in the obesigenic environment. *Obesity*, *15*(1), 126-126.
- Zhang, X., Chen, H., Zhang, G., Zhou, B., & Wu, W. (2008). A longitudinal study of parentchild relationships and problem behaviors in early childhood: Transactional model. *Acta Psychologica Sinica*, 40(5), 571-582.

VITA

Dr. Laura M. L. Distel completed her PhD at Loyola University Chicago in clinical psychology with a specialization in children and families. She received her B.A. in Psychology and Latin American and Caribbean Studies from University of Michigan, Ann Arbor and graduated with highest distinction in 2013. She completed her Masters in Clinical Psychology at Loyola University of Chicago in 2018. Her master's thesis investigated the roles of chronic stress, hair cortisol and parental warmth on childhood obesity among Mexican-origin youth with low incomes. Dr. Distel has been actively involved in multiple research projects including a longitudinal research study investigating stress and family coping among Mexican-origin immigrant families and trauma-focused interventions for children in schools. Dr. Distel's most recent research has focused on the intersection of physical and mental health and the impact of family environment on chronic medical conditions. Dr. Distel's research endeavors have resulted in multiple conference presentations and several publications that have been accepted, are in preparation, or are under review. Clinically, Dr. Distel focuses on working with youth with chronic medical conditions and providing evidence-based intervention for youth and families experiencing comorbid mental health concerns. Dr. Distel is currently completing her clinical internship in pediatric psychology at Children's Hospital of Philadelphia and will begin her postdoctoral fellowship at Boston Children's Hospital in the Fall of 2021.